
   

 

 
4x4 Joint Task Force Committee on Housing  
City Council and Rent Board 

 
 

4 X 4 JOINT TASK FORCE COMMITTEE ON HOUSING  
CITY COUNCIL/RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

 
Wednesday, February 15, 2023 – 3:00 p.m. 

 
 
PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE. 
 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e)(3), City Council Resolution 70,030-N.S., and Rent Board 
Resolution 21-29, this meeting of the City Council and Rent Stabilization Board’s 4 x 4 Joint Task Force 
Committee on Housing (Committee) will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom 
videoconference. Please be advised that pursuant to the Resolutions and the findings contained therein that 
the spread of COVID-19 continues to be a threat to the public health and that holding meetings of City 
legislative bodies in person would present imminent risks to the health and safety of the public and 
members of legislative bodies. Therefore, there will not be a physical meeting location available. 
 
To access this meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device by clicking on this 
URL: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83758415401?pwd=TVdxY2xwUkRnVHFzTllXK21Yb3JPZz09.  If you do not 
wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click on "Rename" to rename 
yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “Raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the 
screen. 
 
To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Webinar ID: 837 5841 5401 and Passcode: 702926. If you 
wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the 
Committee Chair. 
 
To submit a written communication for the Committee’s consideration and inclusion in the public record, 
email btran@cityofberkeley.info with the Subject line in this format: “PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM FOR 4 X 4 
COMMITTEE.” Please observe a 150-word limit. Email comments must be submitted to the email address 
above by 1:00 p.m. on the day of the Committee meeting in order to be included. 
 
Please be mindful that this will be a public meeting and all rules of procedure and decorum will apply for 
meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 
 
This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Government Code Section 54953 and all current state and 
local requirements allowing public participation in meetings of legislative bodies. Any member of the public 
may attend this meeting. Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to DéSeana Williams, Executive 
Director of the Rent Board, at (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT). The Committee may take action related to any 
subject listed on the Agenda.

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83758415401?pwd=TVdxY2xwUkRnVHFzTllXK21Yb3JPZz09
mailto:btran@cityofberkeley.info


   
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

4x4 Joint Task Force Committee on Housing  
City Council and Rent Board      

 
2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 

EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
4 X 4 JOINT TASK FORCE COMMITTEE ON HOUSING 

CITY COUNCIL/RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 
 

Wednesday, February 15, 2023 – 3:00 p.m. 
 

1. Roll call 
 

2. Land Acknowledgment Statement: The Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board recognizes that the 
rental housing units we regulate are built on the territory of xučyun (Huchiun-(Hooch-yoon)), 
the ancestral and unceded land of the Chochenyo (Cho-chen-yo)-speaking Ohlone (Oh-low-
nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of the sovereign Verona Band of Alameda 
County. This land was and continues to be of great importance to all of the Ohlone Tribes 
and descendants of the Verona Band. As we begin our meeting tonight, we acknowledge and 
honor the original inhabitants of Berkeley, the documented 5,000-year history of a vibrant 
community at the West Berkeley Shellmound, and the Ohlone people who continue to reside 
in the East Bay. We recognize that Berkeley’s landlords and tenants have and continue to 
benefit from the use and occupation of this unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s 
incorporation in 1878 and since the Rent Stabilization Board’s creation in 1980. As stewards 
of the laws regulating rental housing, it is not only vital that we recognize the history of this 
land, but also recognize that the Ohlone people are present members of Berkeley and other 
East Bay communities today. 
 

3. Approval of the agenda 
 

4. Public comment on non-agenda matters 
 

5. Approval of February 1, 2023 Committee meeting minutes (see attachment) 
 

6. Discussion and possible action regarding the expiration of the Eviction Moratorium and 
amendments to the COVID-19 Emergency Response Ordinance (requested by Mayor 
Arreguín, see attached BMC 13.110) 

 
7. Discussion and possible recommendations on a moratorium on rent increases (requested by 

Chair Simon-Weisberg) 
 

8. Discussion and possible recommendations to City Council regarding amendments to the 
Demolition Ordinance (Steve Buckley, Planning Department, see attached February 1, 2022 
staff report to the Planning Commission) 

 
9. Discussion of possible future agenda items 
 

10. Confirm next meeting date 
 

11. Adjournment 
 

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent


   
4 x 4 Joint Committee on Housing Agenda – February 15, 2023  
Page 3 

 

 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS:      
Mayor Jesse Arreguín    Rent Board Chairperson Leah Simon-Weisberg 
City Councilmember Sophie Hahn  Rent Board Commissioner Xavier Johnson 
City Councilmember Kate Harrison  Rent Board Commissioner Vanessa Danielle Marrero 
City Councilmember Rigel Robinson   Rent Board Commissioner Dominique Walker 



4x4 Joint Task Force Committee on Housing 
City Council and Rent Board 

4 X 4 JOINT TASK FORCE COMMITTEE ON HOUSING 
CITY COUNCIL/RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

Wednesday, February 1, 2023 – 3:00 p.m. 

PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE. 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e)(3), City Council Resolution 70,030-N.S., and Rent Board 
Resolution 21-29, this meeting of the City Council and Rent Stabilization Board’s 4 x 4 Joint Task Force 
Committee on Housing (Committee) will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom 
videoconference. Please be advised that pursuant to the Resolutions and the findings contained therein that 
the spread of COVID-19 continues to be a threat to the public health and that holding meetings of City 
legislative bodies in person would present imminent risks to the health and safety of the public and 
members of legislative bodies. Therefore, there will not be a physical meeting location available. 

To access this meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device by clicking on this 
URL: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82863248059?pwd=SGtvRlNjMStLclZNNmRmdi9objhWQT09.  If you do not 
wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click on "Rename" to rename 
yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “Raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the 
screen. 

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Webinar ID: 828 6324 8059 and Passcode: 302897. If you 
wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the 
Committee Chair. 

To submit a written communication for the Committee’s consideration and inclusion in the public record, 
email BTran@cityofberkeley.info with the Subject line in this format: “PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM FOR 4 X 4 
COMMITTEE.” Please observe a 150-word limit. Email comments must be submitted to the email address 
above by 1:00 p.m. on the day of the Committee meeting in order to be included. 

Please be mindful that this will be a public meeting and all rules of procedure and decorum will apply for 
meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Government Code Section 54953 and all current state and 
local requirements allowing public participation in meetings of legislative bodies. Any member of the public 
may attend this meeting. Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to DéSeana Williams, Executive 
Director of the Rent Board, at (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT). The Committee may take action related to any 
subject listed on the Agenda.

Item 5.

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82863248059?pwd=SGtvRlNjMStLclZNNmRmdi9objhWQT09
mailto:BTran@cityofberkeley.info


   
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

4x4 Joint Task Force Committee on Housing  
City Council and Rent Board      

 
2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 

EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 
 

 
 

4 X 4 JOINT TASK FORCE COMMITTEE ON HOUSING 
CITY COUNCIL/RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

 
Wednesday, February 1, 2023 – 3:00 p.m. 

 
Minutes to be Approved 

 
1. Roll call: Mayor Arreguín called the meeting to order at 3:03 p.m. 

Present: Mayor Arreguín, CM Hahn, CM Harrison, RBC Johnson, RBC Marrero, RBC Alpert, 
RCB Walker. 
Absent: CM Robinson. 
Staff present: Steve Buckley, Lief Bursell, Nate Dahl, Brendan Darrow, Ollie Ehlinger, Stefan 
Elgstrand, Jen Fabish, Alene Pearson, Be Tran, DéSeana Williams.   

 
2. Land Acknowledgment Statement: The Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board recognizes that the 

rental housing units we regulate are built on the territory of xučyun (Huchiun-(Hooch-yoon)), 
the ancestral and unceded land of the Chochenyo (Cho-chen-yo)-speaking Ohlone (Oh-low-
nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of the sovereign Verona Band of Alameda 
County. This land was and continues to be of great importance to all of the Ohlone Tribes 
and descendants of the Verona Band. As we begin our meeting tonight, we acknowledge and 
honor the original inhabitants of Berkeley, the documented 5,000-year history of a vibrant 
community at the West Berkeley Shellmound, and the Ohlone people who continue to reside 
in the East Bay.  We recognize that Berkeley’s landlords and tenants have and continue to 
benefit from the use and occupation of this unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s 
incorporation in 1878 and since the Rent Stabilization Board’s creation in 1980. As stewards 
of the laws regulating rental housing, it is not only vital that we recognize the history of this 
land, but also recognize that the Ohlone people are present members of Berkeley and other 
East Bay communities today. 
 
The Land Acknowledgement Statement was read aloud. 
 

3. Approval of the agenda: M/S/C (Arreguín/Harrison) Approve the agenda as written.  Roll call 
vote.  YES: Arreguín, Hahn, Harrison, Johnson, Marrero, Alpert, Walker; NO: None; 
ABSTAIN: None; ABSENT: Robinson.  Carried: 7-0-0-1.   

 
4. Public comment on non-agenda matters: No speakers. 

 
5. Approval of December 14, 2022 Committee meeting minutes (see attachment): M/S/C 

(Arreguín/Harrison) Approve the December 14, 2022 minutes as written.  Roll call vote.  YES: 
Arreguín, Hahn, Harrison, Johnson, Marrero, Alpert, Walker; NO: None; ABSTAIN: None; 
ABSENT: Robinson.  Carried: 7-0-0-1. 

 

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent


   
4 x 4 Joint Committee on Housing minutes – February 1, 2023  
Page 3 
 
 

6. Discussion and possible recommendations on a moratorium on rent increases (requested by 
Chair Simon-Weisberg): The committee briefly discussed this item, but agreed by consensus 
to table it given that Chair Simon-Weisberg was unable to attend today’s meeting.  There 
were four public speakers.   

 
7. Discussion and possible recommendations to City Council regarding amendments to the 

Demolition Ordinance (Steve Buckley, Planning Department, see attached February 1, 2022 
staff report to the Planning Commission):  The committee discussed this item, but agreed to 
delay formulating substantive recommendations until Chair Simon-Weisberg could be 
present. There were five public speakers.  
 
M/S/C (Arreguín/Alpert)  Recommend that the Planning Commission delay discussion/action 
on this item to allow for further analysis and action by the 4x4 Committee.  Friendly 
amendment by Hahn (accepted): That the delay be until such time as the 4x4 can transmit 
formal recommendations to the Planning Commission.  Roll call vote.  YES: Arreguín, Hahn, 
Harrison, Johnson, Marrero, Alpert, Walker; NO: None; ABSTAIN: None; ABSENT: 
Robinson.  Carried: 7-0-0-1.   

 
8. Discussion and possible action regarding the expiration of the Eviction Moratorium (see 

attached BMC 13.110) and amendments to the COVID-19 Emergency Response Ordinance 
(requested by Mayor Arreguín): The committee agreed by consensus to table this item due to 
Chair Simon-Weisberg’s inability to attend today’s meeting. Several committee members 
expressed a sense of urgency about addressing this item, and Mayor Arreguín mentioned his 
intent to bring a budget referral to Council to request more funding for COVID-19 rent relief.  
There were four public speakers.   

 
9. Discussion of possible future agenda items: The committee will schedule a special meeting in 

February to discuss the items tabled at today’s meeting, with item 8 as the top priority, item 6 
as the second priority, and item 7 as the third priority.   

 
10. Confirm next meeting date: The committee did not discuss this item. 
 

11. Adjournment: M/S/C (Arreguín/Hahn) Adjourn the meeting.  Roll call vote.  YES: Arreguín, 
Hahn, Harrison, Johnson, Marrero, Alpert, Walker; NO: None; ABSTAIN: None; ABSENT: 
Robinson.  Carried: 7-0-0-1.  The meeting adjourned at 4:23 p.m. 

 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS:      
Mayor Jesse Arreguín    Rent Board Chairperson Leah Simon-Weisberg 
City Councilmember Sophie Hahn  Rent Board Commissioner Xavier Johnson 
City Councilmember Kate Harrison  Rent Board Commissioner Vanessa Danielle Marrero 
City Councilmember Rigel Robinson   Rent Board Commissioner Dominique Walker 



13.110.010 
13.110.020 
13.110.030 
13.110.040 
13.110.050 
13.110.060 
13.110.070 
13.110.080 
13.110.090 
13.110.100 

Chapter 13.110 
COVID-19 EMERGENCY RESPONSE ORDINANCE 

Sections: 

Findings and Purpose. 
Prohibited Conduct. 
Definitions. 
Collection of Back Rent and Late Fees. 
Application. 
Implementing Regulations. 
Waiver. 
Remedies. 
Severability. 
Liberal Construction. 

13.110.010 Findings and Purpose. 

International, national, state and local health and governmental authorities are responding to an outbreak of 
respiratory disease caused by a novel coronavirus named "SARS-CoV-2." And the disease it causes has been 
named "coronavirus disease 2019," abbreviated COVID-19, ("COVID-19"). In response to this emergency, on March 
3, 2020, the City Manager acting as the Director of Emergency Services declared a local State of Emergency based 
on COVID-19 (hereinafter referred to as "the Local Emergency"), which the City Council subsequently ratified on 
March 10, 2020. On April 21, 2020, June 16, 2020, July 28, 2020, September 22, 2020, November 17, 2020, 
December 15, 2020, February 9, 2021, March 30, 2021, May 25, 2021, July 20, 2021, September 14, 2021, December 
14, 2021, February 8, 2022, March 22, 2022, May 10, 2022, June 28, 2022, and July 26, 2022, the council ratified an 
extension of the local emergency. In addition, on March 4, 2020, the Governor declared a state of emergency in 
California and the President of the United States declared a national state of emergency on March 13, 2020 
regarding the novel coronavirus and COVID-19. 

On March 16, 2020, the City of Berkeley Public Health Officer, along with several other neighboring jurisdictions 
issued a Shelter in Place Order directing all individuals living in the City of Berkeley to shelter at their place of 
residence except that they may leave to provide or receive certain essential services or engage in certain essential 
activities, and prohibiting non-essential gatherings and ordering cessation of non-essential travel. On March 31, 
2020 this Shelter in Place Order was extended to May 3, 2020, and restricted activities further. 

Furthermore, on March 16, 2020, the Governor issued Executive Order N-28-20, specifically authorizing local 
governments to halt evictions for commercial tenants, residential tenants, and homeowners who have been 
affected by COVID-19, emphasizing that the economic impacts of COVID-19 have been significant and could 
threaten to undermine housing security as many people are experiencing material income loss as a result of 

Ch. 13.110 COVID-19 Emergency Response Ordinance | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 1 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7838-NS, passed November 3, 2022.

Item 6.



business closures, the loss of hours or wages or layoffs related to COVID-19, hindering their ability to keep up with 
rents, mortgages and utility bills. 

The Order also stated that because homelessness can exacerbate vulnerability to COVID-19, Californians must 
take measures to preserve and increase housing security for Californians to protect public health and specifically 
stated that local jurisdictions may take measures to promote housing security beyond what the state law would 
otherwise allow. 

On April 21, 2020, Alameda County enacted an urgency ordinance prohibiting eviction for any reason other than 
withdrawal of rental property under the Ellis Act or court-ordered eviction for public safety. Although the Alameda 
County ordinance does not have effect within the incorporated area of Berkeley, it is desirable to ensure that 
Berkeley residents have at least the same level of protection as the residents of unincorporated Alameda County. 

During this State of Emergency, and in the interests of protecting the public health and preventing transmission of 
the COVID-19, it is essential to avoid unnecessary displacement and homelessness. It is the intent of this 
Ordinance to fully implement the suspension of the statutory bases for eviction for nonpayment of rent and for 
default in the payment of a mortgage as authorized by Executive Order N-28-20. 

At the same time, the Governor, as well as, the Berkeley Health Officer, and those of other jurisdictions ordered 
the closure of businesses, except those deemed essential. Many businesses, such as restaurants, are open only for 
take-out or pick up services and face a critical loss of business. 

The City Council is aware that some landlords of commercial properties are seeking significant rent increases 
during the period when many commercial tenants are closed or are experiencing substantial and catastrophic 
reductions in their business and income. Such rent increases force tenants who are closed or have substantially 
reduced revenues to face the choice of accepting a significant rent increase, moving at a time when it is virtually 
impossible, or closing altogether. Accepting a rent increase while closed or in a reduced state of operations means 
that the commercial tenants face even more debt to the landlord when the emergency is over, and may face a 
substantially increased rent when the tenant returns to normal operations, if ever. 

Landlords of commercial property that unreasonably increases rents on tenants of commercial property during 
the COVID-19 emergency significantly impacts vulnerable small businesses, nonprofits, and artists who form a 
large part of the backbone of Berkeley’s economy, revenue sources, and employment opportunities. These rent 
increases are coming at a time when the commercial rents are likely falling due to business closures and potential 
loss of businesses at the end of the emergency. Thus, these rent increases appear as a way of evading the 
Governor’s and Berkeley’s commercial tenant eviction moratorium by forcing tenants to agree to rent increases or 
leave. Such conduct constitutes constructive evictions in contravention of the eviction moratorium. Furthermore, 
such rent increases may affect businesses providing goods and essential services, resulting in increases in those 
costs of essential goods and services contravening the intent of anti-price gouging laws. 

On expiration of leases when the emergency order is in place, unreasonable rent increases have already forced 
the closure of businesses and will result in closing of additional business causing loss of income for the business 
owners, loss of employment for the employees and of revenue to the city, and an increase in homelessness. To 
reduce the spread of COVID-19, it is essential to avoid unnecessary displacement and homelessness. Because of 
the emergency restrictions, businesses forced out due to increased rents will be unable to move to new locations 

Ch. 13.110 COVID-19 Emergency Response Ordinance | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 2 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7838-NS, passed November 3, 2022.



and new businesses will be unable to open during this emergency period. During a state of emergency cities have 
extraordinary powers and jurisdiction to create legislation in order to counteract the effects of the emergency 
situation on its people and businesses. Protecting tenants from excessive rent increases will prevent additional 
loss of employment and essential services for Berkeley residents. In order to effectively implement an eviction 
moratorium, the City Council finds it imperative to prevent constructive eviction through unreasonable rent 
increases. 

Accordingly, the City of Berkeley adopts the following amendments to Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 13.110. 
(Ord. 7832-NS § 1, 2022; Ord. 7762-NS § 1, 2021; Ord. 7743-NS § 1, 2020: Ord. 7704-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 
7698-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 7693-NS § 1 (part), 2020) 

13.110.020 Prohibited Conduct. 

A. During the Covered Period, no Landlord or Lender shall evict or attempt to evict a Resident of real property, or 
otherwise require a Tenant to vacate, unless necessary to stop an imminent threat to the health and safety of 
other occupants. For purposes of this Ordinance, the basis for an exception to this Ordinance cannot be the 
Resident’s COVID-19 illness or exposure to COVID-19, whether actual or suspected. 

B. Residential Eviction Moratorium. It shall be a complete defense to any action for unlawful detainer that the 
notice upon which the action is based was served or expired, or that the complaint was filed or served, during the 
Covered Period. 

C. No landlord of an Impacted Business or Nonprofit may upon expiration of a lease increase rent for an 
Impacted Business or Nonprofit in an amount greater than ten (10) percent over the rent in effect at the 
commencement of the local emergency declared by the Director of Emergency Services. For purposes of this 
section, rent means all consideration for the use and enjoyment of the rented premises, including base rent and 
any additional rent or other charges for costs such as utilities, maintenance, cleaning, trash removal, repairs and 
any other charges to the tenant required under the rental agreement. This section 13.110.020 C. shall expire on 
May 31, 2020, concurrent with Executive Order N-28-20; provided, however, that this section shall be automatically 
extended if Executive Order N-28-20 is extended or the tenant protections therein are extended pursuant to 
another Governor’s Executive Order. 

D. For the duration of the Covered Period, if a tenant has a Covered reason for delayed payment, the tenant may 
terminate a lease or rental agreement with 30 days’ notice without penalty. A tenant may also exercise rights 
under this subsection if the tenants or roommates of the tenants are or were registered at an educational 
institution that cancelled or limited in-person classes due to the COVID-19 pandemic. (Ord. 7832-NS § 1, 2022; Ord. 
7762-NS § 1, 2021; Ord. 7743-NS § 1, 2020: Ord. 7720-NS § 1, 2020: Ord. 7704-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 7698-NS § 1 
(part), 2020: Ord. 7693-NS § 1 (part), 2020) 

Ch. 13.110 COVID-19 Emergency Response Ordinance | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 3 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7838-NS, passed November 3, 2022.



13.110.030 Definitions. 

A. "Covered Period" means the period of time beginning with March 17, 2020 and concluding upon the 
expiration of the local emergency. However, the City Council may vote by resolution to extend the duration of the 
Covered Period. 

B. "Covered Reason for Delayed Payment" means: 

(1) The basis for the eviction is nonpayment of rent, arising out of a material decrease in household, 
business, or other rental unit occupant(s)’s income (including, but not limited to, a material decrease in 
household income caused by layoffs or a reduction in the number of compensable hours of work, or to 
caregiving responsibilities, or a material decrease in business income caused by a reduction in opening hours 
or consumer demand), or material out-of-pocket medical expenses, or a reduction in the number of tenants 
living in the unit (including due to difficulty finding new tenants and/or subtenants willing and able to cover a 
sufficient share of rent) which reduces the ability of the remaining tenants to pay rent, or a rent increase that 
exceeds the Annual General Adjustment for the current year; and 

(2) The decrease in household, business, or other rental unit occupant’s income or the expenses or reduction 
in number of tenants described in subparagraph (1) was caused by the impacts of COVID-19 pandemic, or by 
any local, state, or federal government response to COVID-19. 

C. "Delayed Rent Payment Agreement" means a mutual agreement between a landlord and tenant regarding the 
timing and amount of payments for rent that is delayed by a Covered Reason for Delayed Payment. 

D. "Homeowner" means the owner or owners of a Residential Unit subject to a mortgage or similar loan secured 
by the residential unit. "Homeowner" is limited to owners who reside in the unit and includes the individuals 
residing in the unit with the homeowner. 

E. "Impacted Business or Nonprofit" means a business or nonprofit organization that had a business license in 
2019 or 2020 in the City of Berkeley or is a registered nonprofit in either or both of those years and: 

1. whose operation has been shut down due to the COVID-19 emergency, or 

2. that is unable to accept customers at its location and is open for limited virtual, take-out or pickup 
services only, or 

3. who suffered a material loss of income. 

F. "Landlord" includes owners, lessors, or sublessors of either residential or commercial rental property, and the 
agent, representative, or successor of any of the foregoing. 

G. "Lender” means the mortgagee of a purchase money or similar mortgage, or the holder or beneficiary of a 
loan secured by one or more units, which person has the right to mortgage or similar payments from the owner as 
mortgagor, including a loan servicer, and the agent, representative, or successor of any of the foregoing. 

H. "Resident" means a Tenant, Homeowner, or their household. 

Ch. 13.110 COVID-19 Emergency Response Ordinance | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 4 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7838-NS, passed November 3, 2022.



I. "Tenant" includes a tenant, subtenant, lessee, sublessee, lodger or any other person entitled by written or oral 
rental agreement to use or occupancy of either residential or commercial property. (Ord. 7832-NS § 1, 2022; Ord. 
7762-NS § 1, 2021; Ord. 7743-NS § 1, 2020: Ord. 7704-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 7698-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 
7693-NS § 1 (part), 2020) 

13.110.040 Collection of Back Rent and Late Fees. 

A. Nothing in this Chapter shall relieve the tenant of liability for unpaid rent, which the landlord may seek after 
expiration of the local State of Emergency. Notwithstanding any lease provision to the contrary, a landlord may 
not charge or collect a late fee, fine, or interest for rent that is delayed by a Covered Reason for Delayed Payment. 
The City will develop standards or guidelines for tenants to repay unpaid rent accrued during the Covered Period 
course of the local State of Emergency. Landlords are encouraged to work with local agencies that will be making 
rental assistance available for qualifying tenants. 

B. 1. For rent accrued through January 31, 2021, Tenants shall have until March 31, 2022, or the date adopted 
by state law, as applicable, to pay rent that was delayed by a Covered Reason for Delayed Payment unless the 
landlord and tenant come to a mutual repayment agreement ("Delayed Rent Payment Agreement"). 

2. For rent accrued beginning February 1, 2021, Tenants shall have until twenty-four (24) months after the 
conclusion of the Covered Period to pay rent that was delayed by a Covered Reason for Delayed Payment, or 
the period of time adopted by state law, as applicable, unless the landlord and tenant come to a mutual 
repayment agreement ("Delayed Rent Payment Agreement"). 

3. Notwithstanding any lease provision to the contrary, a landlord may not charge or collect a late fee, fine, 
or interest for rent that is delayed by a Covered Reason for Delayed Payment. 

C. A Tenant is not required to provide documentation to the Landlord in advance to qualify for the delayed 
repayment of rent. However, upon the request of a Landlord, a Tenant shall provide such documentation to the 
Landlord within forty-five (45) days after the request or within thirty (30) days after the Covered Period, whichever 
is later. A declaration sworn under penalty of perjury shall constitute documentation for the purpose of this 
requirement. In the case of nonpayment of rent, the failure of a Tenant to notify the landlord in advance of being 
delinquent in the payment of rent prior to being served with a notice pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure sections 
1161(2) et seq. does not waive the Tenant’s right to claim this Chapter as a complete defense to nonpayment of 
rent in an unlawful detainer action. 

D. Any medical or financial information provided to the landlord shall be held in confidence, and shall not be 
disclosed to other entities unless such disclosure is permitted or required by the law, or unless the tenant 
explicitly authorizes the disclosure of the information in writing. 

E. Any relief from the City of Berkeley either directly to a property owner on their own application or as a pass 
through for City relief payments to the tenant shall directly reduce the amount of any rent that was delayed by a 
Covered Reason for Delayed Payment. This requirement shall be applied into any Delayed Rent Payment 
Agreement, regardless of the terms of that agreement. (Ord. 7832-NS § 1, 2022; Ord. 7762-NS § 1, 2021; Ord. 
7743-NS § 1, 2020: Ord. 7704-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 7698-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 7693-NS § 1 (part), 2020) 

Ch. 13.110 COVID-19 Emergency Response Ordinance | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 5 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7838-NS, passed November 3, 2022.

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/CCP/1161(2)


13.110.050 Application. 

A. This Chapter applies to eviction notices and unlawful detainer actions based on notices served, filed, or which 
expire during the Covered Period. It does not apply to commercial leases where the term has expired and the City 
has issued a permit for the demolition or substantial alteration of the commercial unit, or to units ordered by the 
City to be vacated for the preservation of public health, including where the City deems necessary to control the 
spread of COVID-19. 

B. Except where expressly required by state law (such as Assembly Bill 3088 or any subsequent statewide 
COVID-19 relief legislation), a landlord may seek rent accrued during the Covered Period as set forth in Section 
13.110.040, but may not file an action pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure sections 1161(2) et seq. or otherwise 
seek to recover possession of a rental unit based on the failure to pay rent that accrued during the Covered 
Period. In any action to evict based on alleged nonpayment of rent, it shall be a complete defense to such action if 
any part of the rent in dispute accrued at any time during the Covered Period, or if the action otherwise demands 
any fees or amounts contrary to the provisions of this Chapter. A landlord shall not apply any rent payment 
towards rent that is delayed by a Covered Reason for Delayed Payment before applying it towards any other Rent 
owed without the explicit written permission of the Tenant. 

C. A Landlord or Lender shall not retaliate against a Resident for exercising their rights under this Ordinance, 
including but not limited to shutting off any utilities, reducing services or amenities, refusing to make or delaying 
repairs to which the Resident would otherwise be entitled, or taking actions which hurt the Resident’s credit rating 
based on non-payment of rent during the Covered Period as allowed under this ordinance. 

D. In addition to the affirmative defenses set forth above, in any action to recover possession of a rental unit 
filed under Berkeley Municipal Code section 13.76.130(A)(1), it shall be a complete defense that the landlord 
impeded the tenant’s effort to pay rent by refusing to accept rent paid on behalf of the tenant from a third party, 
or refusing to provide a W-9 form or other necessary documentation for the tenant to receive rental assistance 
from a government agency, non-profit organization, or other third party. Acceptance of rental payments made on 
behalf of the tenant by a third party shall not create a tenancy between the landlord and the third party. (Ord. 
7832-NS § 1, 2022; Ord. 7762-NS § 1, 2021; Ord. 7743-NS § 1, 2020: Ord. 7704-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 7698-NS § 1 
(part), 2020: Ord. 7693-NS § 1 (part), 2020) 

13.110.060 Implementing Regulations. 

The City Manager may promulgate implementing regulations and develop forms to effectuate this Ordinance. This 
includes the option of requiring Landlords and Lenders to give a notice to Residents informing them of this 
Chapter and the right to seek the benefits of this Chapter. (Ord. 7832-NS § 1, 2022; Ord. 7762-NS § 1, 2021; Ord. 
7743-NS § 1, 2020: Ord. 7704-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 7698-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 7693-NS § 1 (part), 2020) 

13.110.070 Waiver. 

A. By entering into a Delayed Rent Payment Agreement, Tenants do not waive any rights under this Chapter. 

Ch. 13.110 COVID-19 Emergency Response Ordinance | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 6 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7838-NS, passed November 3, 2022.

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/CCP/1161(2)
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/13.76.130(A)(1)


B. Any agreement by a Tenant to waive any rights under this ordinance shall be void and contrary to public 
policy. (Ord. 7832-NS § 1, 2022; Ord. 7762-NS § 1, 2021; Ord. 7743-NS § 1, 2020: Ord. 7704-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 
7698-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 7693-NS § 1 (part), 2020) 

13.110.080 Remedies. 

A. In the event of a violation of this Ordinance, any person or entity aggrieved by the violation may institute a 
civil proceeding for injunctive relief, and money actual damages as specified below, and whatever other relief the 
court deems appropriate. 

1. An award of actual damages may include an award for mental and/or emotional distress and/or suffering. 
The amount of actual damages awarded to a prevailing plaintiff shall be trebled by the Court outside of the 
presence, and without the knowledge of, the jury, if any, if a defendant acted in knowing violation of, or in 
reckless disregard for, the provisions of this Chapter. 

2. A defendant shall be liable for additional civil penalties of up to five thousand dollars for each violation of 
this Chapter committed against a person who is disabled within the meaning of California Government Code 
section 12926, et seq., or aged sixty-five or over. 

3. In addition to the above awards of damages in a civil action under this Chapter, a prevailing plaintiff shall 
be entitled to an award of reasonable attorney’s fees. A prevailing defendant in a civil action under this 
Chapter shall only be entitled to an award of attorney’s fees if it is determined by the Court the action was 
wholly without merit or frivolous. 

4. In addition, this Chapter grants a complete defense to eviction in the event that an eviction notice or 
unlawful detainer action is commenced, filed, or served in violation of this Chapter. 

B. The protections provided by this ordinance shall be available to all Residents, regardless of any agreement 
wherein a Resident waives or purports to waive their rights under this Ordinance, with any such agreement 
deemed void as contrary to public policy. 

C. Violations of Section 13.110.020(C) -- (Commercial rent restrictions). 

1. Violations of Section 13.110.020(C) may be enforced by an administrative fine of up to $1,000 pursuant to 
Chapter 1.28. Each day a commercial property landlord demands rent in excess of the amount permitted 
pursuant to Section 13.110.020(C) is a separate violation. The City may also charge the costs of investigating 
and issuing any notices of violations, and any hearings or appeals of such notices. 

2. The City Attorney may refer those violators of Section 13.110.020(C) to the Alameda County District 
Attorney for redress as a violation of Business and Professions Code section 17200, et seq. or, if granted 
permission by the District Attorney, may bring an action pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 
17200, et seq. 

D. Nonexclusive Remedies and Penalties. The remedies provided in this subdivision are not exclusive, and nothing 
in this Chapter shall preclude any person from seeking any other remedies, penalties or procedures provided by 

Ch. 13.110 COVID-19 Emergency Response Ordinance | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 7 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7838-NS, passed November 3, 2022.

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/12926
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/1.28
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/BPC/17200
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/BPC/17200


The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7838-NS, passed November 3, 2022. 

Disclaimer: The City Clerk’s Office has the official version of the Berkeley Municipal Code. Users should contact the 
City Clerk’s Office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above. 

City Website: www.berkeleyca.gov 
Code Publishing Company 

law. (Ord. 7832-NS § 1, 2022; Ord. 7762-NS § 1, 2021; Ord. 7743-NS § 1, 2020: Ord. 7704-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 
7698-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 7693-NS § 1 (part), 2020) 

13.110.090 Severability. 

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or word of this Chapter, or any application thereof to any 
person or circumstance, is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a decision of a court of competent jurisdiction, 
such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions or applications of this Chapter. The Council of 
the City of Berkeley hereby declares that it would have passed this Chapter and each and every section, 
subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, and word not declared invalid or unconstitutional without regard to whether 
any other portion of this Chapter or application thereof would be subsequently declared invalid or 
unconstitutional. (Ord. 7832-NS § 1, 2022; Ord. 7762-NS § 1, 2021; Ord. 7743-NS § 1, 2020: Ord. 7704-NS § 1 (part), 
2020: Ord. 7698-NS § 1 (part), 2020: Ord. 7693-NS § 1 (part), 2020) 

13.110.100 Liberal Construction. 

The provisions of this Chapter shall be liberally construed so as to fully achieve its purpose and provide the 
greatest possible protections to tenants. (Ord. 7832-NS § 1, 2022) 

Ch. 13.110 COVID-19 Emergency Response Ordinance | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 8 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7838-NS, passed November 3, 2022.

https://www.berkeleyca.gov/
https://www.codebook.com/


Planning and Development Department 
Land Use Planning Division 

STAFF REPORT 

DATE:  February 1, 2023 

TO: Members of the Planning Commission 

FROM: Steven Buckley, Land Use Planning Manager 

SUBJECT: Zoning Ordinance Amendments to Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 

23.326 [Demolition and Dwelling Unit Controls] 

BACKGROUND  

The Planning Commission is asked to make a recommendation to the City Council 

regarding amendments to the demolition ordinance (Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 

23.326). The existing and proposed ordinance are presented in Attachments 1 and 2, 

respectively. A comparison of the two versions is provided in Attachment 3. Excerpts of 

relevant State law are provided in Attachment 4. 

The impetus for these revisions is recent changes in State law that provide additional 

requirements for new housing development projects that involve the demolition of 

existing residential units. These provisions of the Housing Crisis Act of 2019, which 

modified Government Code sections relating to zoning and density bonus, require all 

new housing development projects to provide replacement units of equivalent size, 

defined as having the same number of bedrooms as the demolished units. 

The State law provides optional ways to comply depending on whether the units were 

occupied or vacant, whether those tenants were low income, whether the units were 

subject to local rent control (in Berkeley, this would be most properties with more than 

two units built before 1980), and whether the units were removed from the rental market 

pursuant to the Ellis Act (which allows landlords to “go out of the rental business”). In 

particular, replacement units required by the Housing Crisis Act of 2019, may be deed 

restricted to low income households or they may be subject to local rent control. The 

law also addresses the rights of existing tenants that would be displaced by demolition, 

including relocation benefits and a right of first refusal to return to the new units at an 

affordable rent.  

Item 8.



Planning Commission 
Demolition Ordinance Amendments 

Page 2 of 8 

Density bonus law now mirrors these requirements. This law goes on to specifically 

address requirements where units are vacant and/or existing tenant incomes are not 

known, and thus the level of affordability of replacement units must be inferred from 

HUD data for the community and distributed accordingly. 

Summary of Existing Demolition Ordinance Provisions  

The existing demolition ordinance addresses issues similar to the new State law, as well 

as additional situations such as when housing units are demolished and no new 

housing units are being developed at the site (e.g. commercial development), when 

tenants have been unlawfully evicted, and when units are being merged or converted 

within an existing building rather than physical demolished.  

A Use Permit is required for the demolition or other elimination of a dwelling unit in 

Berkeley. The Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB) may issue a Use Permit for the 

demolition of a dwelling unit for specific enumerated reasons, including in instances 

where a building is “hazardous or unusable and is infeasible to repair” or “demolition is 

necessary to permit construction… of at least the same number of dwelling units.” 

Before permitting the demolition of a dwelling unit, ZAB must also find that “the 

elimination of the dwelling units would not be materially detrimental to the housing 

needs and public interest of the affected neighborhood and the City.” Finally, applicants 

must either provide below-market-rate replacement units to “qualifying household[s]” or 

pay an in-lieu fee (but the fee has never been set). 

Demolition of dwelling units is prohibited where a building has been removed from the 

rental market under the Ellis Act during the preceding five years or where there have 

been verified cases of harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction during the 

immediately preceding three years. Applicants are generally required to provide 

relocation benefits, including moving expenses and differential rent payments. In 

addition, displaced tenants are provided a right of first refusal to rent new units.  

Most of these provisions are carried forward in the proposed ordinance. 

Previous Discussions 

Planning Commission. On October 19, 2022, the Planning Commission considered the 

most recent version of proposed amendments. 

Staff provides the following response to questions raised during the Commission’s 

discussion. 

• Does this ordinance apply to condominium conversions?

o The ordinance does not apply to condominium conversions because the

housing unit remains physically available as housing. However, a

mitigation fee is required upon sale to recoup some of the value



Planning Commission 
Demolition Ordinance Amendments 

Page 3 of 8 

differential, if any, which is placed into the Housing Trust Fund to provide 

affordable housing elsewhere in the city. 

• Would displaced tenants be able to return at the same rent in a “market rate”

unit?

o Yes, for tenants that are not low income, the proposed ordinance requires

a form of rent control in a replacement unit that is not designated as one of

the below-market-rate (BMR) replacement units equivalent to their prior

rent for the duration of their tenancy. The Commission requested

clarification of the income restrictions / rent / BMR requirements, which is

provided in the revised draft attached to this report.

• Did SB330 override Costa-Hawkins (which prohibits the imposition of rent control

on new dwelling units) to allow rent control / BMR units for the new project?

o Yes, SB330 allows the imposition of rent control if it is required by local

ordinance. In Berkeley, the citywide rent control ordinance does not apply

to new units, but this demolition ordinance is being drafted to mimic rent

control by limiting the annual rent increases for any tenant that returns to a

new unit for the duration of that tenancy, in addition to the requirement that

all of the demolished units be replaced as BMR units in perpetuity.

• Would there be a “right of return” for existing tenants even if demolition would be

for the purpose of constructing a project that contains only affordable units?

o To the extent a displaced tenant could qualify for one of the replacement

units, then they would have a right of first refusal. However, because of

how they are funded and operated, 100%-affordable projects would not be

required to provide additional units for those tenants that do not income-

qualify. However, those displaced tenants would receive all of the

specified relocation benefits.

• Is the University of California required to comply with this ordinance?

o No, but they are subject to applicable State law.

• What applicability would this have to illegal units?

o The revised draft of the ordinance includes a section that applies the

demolition, tenant protection and replacement requirements to illegal

units, to the degree those units are recognized in some form as previously

rented (registered with the Rent Stabilization Board) and/or there is

substantial evidence of landlord-tenant relationship within the past five

years.



Planning Commission 
Demolition Ordinance Amendments 

Page 4 of 8 

Public commenters requested clarity whether the five-year prohibition on demolition of 

units that were vacated by Ellis Act evictions should apply to the entire building versus 

each unit. Comments also noted a general desire to replace older, dilapidated housing 

stock and that the provision of BMR units would be preferable as a long-term solution. 

Commenters also indicted a desire that the 4x4 Committee be provided an opportunity 

to review the revised ordinance. 

The Commission summarized its recommendations as follows: 

• Illegal units should be covered by the ordinance, and an amnesty program

should be considered for units that can be made safe to remain occupied.

o Illegal units are included for the purpose of providing tenant protections.

Replacing illegal units is subject to the usual code enforcement, zoning

and building code compliance process.

• Focus on like-for-like replacement units – rent control is preferable.

o Rent control is available as a means of accommodating the return of

tenants that don’t income qualify for BMR units. for the 4x4 Committee

recommended that the ordinance require replacement unit =s to be

established as BMR units, which are permanently affordable, while also

protecting the rights of existing/returning tenants.

• The exemption for demolitions to create childcare and other public benefit uses is

not needed because other buildings are available for those uses.

o Staff has not received a consensus direction from all policymakers on this

topic, so the provision for certain exceptions remains in the draft

ordinance.

• No mitigation fee should be allowed – all units should be replaced.

o Some cases will require that replacement units are not provided, for

example when the project results in no new residential development. The

existing ordinance has a fee requirement for cases where an owner-

occupant eliminates a unit – the same requirement could apply in some

other cases, but a nexus and feasibility study would be needed.

• Consider whether the Rent Stabilization Board will administer tenant rights or if

another review body is appropriate.

o The ordinance has been amended to clarify that the Rent Stabilization

Board would serve as an appeal body to review any disputes from the

Hearing Officer’s determination.



Planning Commission 
Demolition Ordinance Amendments 

Page 5 of 8 

• Evaluate the provisions related to combining units, which address owner-

occupancy / relocation and the death of an owner.

o The 4x4 Committee recommended that these provisions be retained.

• Clarify whether historic resources are affected and how Landmarks Preservation

Commission review occurs.

The LPC is only involved in demolitions of non-residential properties, 

though an historic evaluation is required for all development on properties 

over 40 years old in order to comply with CEQA. 

• Clarify how the local rent stabilization ordinance affects the ability of the City to

require rent controlled replacement units.

o In general, local rent control does not apply to new units that receive a

Certificate of Occupancy. However, this ordinance is intended to impose

an equivalent of rent control for the returning tenants for the duration of

their tenancy, as allowed by SB330 and Density Bonus Law.

• Consider whether tenants may benefit from “market rate” rents if they are less

than prior rents.

o A provision has been added to require the lesser of prior rents or market

rents for returning tenants. In practice, “market rents” are difficult to

determine or enforce.

• Clarify whether single-family homes are subject to rent control.

o Single-family homes are not subject to rent control, but tenant protections

apply.

• Make sure that the local ordinance is sufficient to address the issues in case

State law is amended or sunsets.

o The intent of this ordinance is to supplement the law, and to incorporate all

of the substantive provisions of the law. To the degree the law is amended,

the City is required to conform to it, so restating the law in its entirety in

our local ordinance would lead to non-conformities that would require

further ordinance amendment and potentially lead to unenforceable

provisions, so not every provision of the law is restated.

The Commission moved to refer the draft ordinance back to the 4x4 Committee for 

consideration. 



Planning Commission 
Demolition Ordinance Amendments 

Page 6 of 8 

4x4 Joint Committee on Housing. On December 14, 2022, the 4x4 Committee reviewed 

a revised version of the ordinance and provided the following comments and 

recommendations: 

• Revise the process regarding the determination of whether harassment has

occurred to restate so that the Hearing officer makes the determination and ZAB

reviews/confirms. Consider whether a body other than ZAB (i.e., City Council or

Rent Board) should make the determination.
o This amendment has been included in the revised draft ordinance.

• Reconsider applicability to ADUs/JADUs (and review whether it would be

allowable under State law). Alternatively, add tenant protections requirements for

demolished ADUs/JADUs (as is applied to unpermitted units).
o This amendment has been included in the revised draft ordinance.

• Reconsider applicability to unpermitted units; consider distinguishing between

units that are unsafe and other units.

o Illegal units are included in the definition of Residential Unit for the

purpose of providing tenant protections. Replacing illegal units is subject

to the usual code enforcement, zoning and building code compliance

process.

• Add definition of "comparable unit" - size, amenities, location (e.g., consider

requiring in the same school district).
o This amendment has been included in the revised draft ordinance.

• Expand noticing requirements for tenants and neighbors.
o This amendment has been included in the revised draft ordinance.

• Keep section "23.326.040.D. Effect of Eliminating a Dwelling Unit."
o This section has been reinstated in the revised draft ordinance.

• Reconsider deletion of the non-detriment finding (23.326.030.A).
o The non-detriment finding is a standard finding for all Use Permits.

• Use definition of harassment from Tenant Protection Ordinance.
o Reference is made to the other code sections for purposes of addressing

tenant rights.

The revised draft ordinance being presented for consideration by the Planning 

Commission includes revisions reflecting the direction of the Planning Commission, the 

4x4 Committee, and additional technical and administrative edits recommended by staff. 



Planning Commission 
Demolition Ordinance Amendments 

Page 7 of 8 

Issues for Discussion 

Staff has identified topics for further discussion. 

Use Permit. The requirement to obtain a Use Permit may interfere with the trend toward 

by-right approval of housing development projects. Several policies in the Housing 

Element and regulations in State law provide for the approval of smaller multi-family 

housing in lower density zoning districts without public hearings or discretionary permits. 

In light of State law and the revised demolition ordinance, there are clear mandates for 

how the effect of removing units and displacing tenants are mitigated. While a Use 

Permit provides an opportunity for public review and a hearing by the Zoning 

Adjustments Board, it would not necessarily provide an opportunity to require anything 

different from the law and ordinance. The revised draft ordinance provides that a Use 

Permit is required except as otherwise provided by the Zoning Ordinance or State law, 

i.e. where the City is mandated, or may choose in the future, to approve a project by-

right. The City Council adopted the 2023-2031 Housing Element on January 18, 2023,

and amended a program specifically related to this topic. The Council action states:

To facilitate the by-right development of Middle Housing, the City will consider 

eliminating the requirement of a use permit to demolish single-family homes for 

applications that 1) add net density and 2) have not been occupied by tenants 

within the past five years and in which Ellis Act eviction did not occur within the 

preceding five years. This policy will be referred for consideration to the 4x4 

Committee of the City Council and Rent Board. Further, explore the effect on 

local and state laws relating to the demolition of historic resources. 

Illegal Units. A clause has been added to the definition section to clarify that illegal units 

are considered residential units for the purposes of this ordinance and that the tenant 

protections apply. Whether those units can be removed without being replaced remains 

a question. In some cases the units can be legalized under the zoning, building and 

housing codes. In other cases these units are substandard, unsafe, exceed allowable 

density, or otherwise impermissible such that they should be permanently removed. 

Tenant protections are provided in these cases, but no replacement units are required. 

A rent differential cap is established because these tenants will be relocated with no 

option to return, , so it is advisable to not have an indefinite time and cost to the 

relocation benefits. 

Elimination of Units Through Combination and Conversion to Other Uses. The 

ordinance addresses several situations in which residential units are combined with 

other units or converted to another use, such as a daycare center or nursing home. 

These situations have occasionally occurred in the past and led to the special 

provisions in the existing ordinance. The intent is to allow conversion of owner-occupied 

buildings with a lesser standard, i.e. no replacement units are required. However, the 



Planning Commission 
Demolition Ordinance Amendments 

Page 8 of 8 

special provisions related to continued occupancy by the owner, retroactive penalties if 

the owner moves out, and provisions for inheritances and changes in life circumstances 

are difficult to interpret and enforce.  

The Commission and public commenters in the past have suggested these provisions 

should be eliminated. One of these circumstances references a mitigation fee, which 

could be expanded to cover other similar circumstances. For now, Section 23.326.040 

remains in the draft ordinance pending clearer direction. A defined relocation benefit 

could be established for these circumstances, similar to the one established for tenants 

of illegal units, because these tenants will not have a new unit to return to. 

Recommendation 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission conduct a Public Hearing, receive 

public comment, discuss draft Ordinance amendments, provide direction, and forward a 

recommendation to City Council, with any changes identified through a vote of the 

Planning Commission.  

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Existing Ordinance
2. Revised Draft Ordinance
3. Compare Version of Ordinances
4. State Law Excerpts



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance 

Page 1 of 12 

Chapter 23.326 

DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROL 

Sections: 

23.326.010 Chapter Purpose. 

23.326.020 General Requirements. 

23.326.030 Eliminating Dwelling Units through Demolition. 

23.326.040 Eliminating Dwelling Units through Conversion and Change of Use. 

23.326.050 Private Right of Action. 

23.326.060 Elimination of Residential Hotel Rooms. 

23.326.070 Demolitions of Non-Residential Buildings. 

23.326.080 Building Relocations. 

23.326.090 Limitations. 

23.326.010 Chapter Purpose. 

This chapter establishes demolition and dwelling unit control standards that promote the 

affordable housing, aesthetic, and safety goals of the City. 

23.326.020 General Requirements. 

A. Applicability. No dwelling unit or units may be eliminated or demolished except as

authorized by this chapter. 

B. Findings. In addition to the requirements below, the Zoning Adjustments Board

(ZAB) may approve a Use Permit to eliminate or demolish a dwelling unit only upon 

finding that eliminating the dwelling unit would not be materially detrimental to the 

housing needs and public interest of the affected neighborhood and Berkeley.  

23.326.030 Eliminating Dwelling Units through Demolition. 

A. Buildings with Two or More Units Constructed Before June 1980.

1. Applicability. This subsection only applies to building with two or more units

constructed before June 1980. 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance 

Page 2 of 12 

2. Limitation.

(a) Demolition is not allowed if:

i. The building was removed from the rental market under the Ellis Act

during the preceding five years; or 

ii. There have been verified cases of harassment or threatened or actual

illegal eviction during the immediately preceding three years. 

(b) Where allegations of harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction are

in dispute, either party may request a hearing before a Rent Board Hearing 

Examiner. The Rent Board Hearing Examiner will provide an assessment of the 

evidence and all available documentation to the ZAB. The ZAB shall determine 

whether harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction occurred. 

3. Findings. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to demolish a building

constructed before June 1980 on a property containing two or more dwelling units if 

any of the following are true: 

(a) The building containing the units is hazardous or unusable and is infeasible

to repair. 

(b) The building containing the units will be moved to a different location within

Berkeley with no net loss of units and no change in the affordability levels of the 

units. 

(c) The demolition is necessary to permit construction of special housing

needs facilities such as, but not limited to, childcare centers and affordable 

housing developments that serve the greater good of the entire community. 

(d) The demolition is necessary to permit construction approved pursuant to

this chapter of at least the same number of dwelling units. 

4. Fee Required.

(a) The applicant shall pay a fee for each unit demolished to mitigate the

impact of the loss of affordable housing in Berkeley. 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance 

Page 3 of 12 

(b) The amount of the fee shall be set by resolution of the City Council.

(c) In Lieu of a Fee.

i. In lieu of paying the impact fee, the applicant may provide a designated

unit in the new project at a below market rate to a qualifying household in 

perpetuity. 

ii. The affordability level of the below market rent and the income level of

the qualifying household shall be set by resolution of the City Council. 

iii. The applicant shall enter into a regulatory agreement with the City of

Berkeley to provide the in lieu units. 

5. Occupied Units.

(a) Applicability.

i. The requirements in this subsection apply if units to be demolished are

occupied. 

ii. These requirements do not apply to tenants who move in after the

application for demolition is submitted to the City if the owner informs each 

prospective tenant about the proposed demolition and that demolition 

constitutes good cause for eviction. 

(b) Notice. The applicant shall provide all sitting tenants notice of the

application to demolish the building no later than the date it is submitted to the 

City, including notice of their rights under Municipal Code Section 13.76 (Rent 

Stabilization and Eviction for Good Cause Program). 

(c) General Requirements.

i. The applicant shall provide assistance with moving expenses equivalent

to in Chapter 13.84 (Relocation Services and Payments for Residential 

Tenant Households). 

ii. The applicant shall subsidize the rent differential for a comparable

replacement unit, in the same neighborhood if feasible, until new units are 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update  

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance  

 

 

Page 4 of 12 

ready for occupancy. Funding for the rent differential shall be guaranteed in 

a manner approved by the City. 

iii.  Exception. An applicant who proposes to construct a 100 percent 

affordable housing project is not required to comply with this subsection but 

must comply with the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property 

Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 as amended and the California Relocation 

Act (Government Code sections 7260 et seq.). 

(d)  Sitting Tenants Rights.  

i.  Sitting tenants who are displaced as a result of demolition shall be 

provided the right of first refusal to move into the new building. 

ii.  Tenants of units that are demolished shall have the right of first refusal 

to rent new below-market rate units designated to replace the units that 

were demolished, at the rent that would have applied if they had remained 

in place, as long as their tenancy continues. 

iii.  Income restrictions do not apply to displaced tenants. 

iv.  Exception.  

(1)  An applicant who proposes to construct a 100 percent affordable 

housing project is not required to comply with 23.326.030.A.5.a, b, and 

c, but must comply with the following requirement. 

(2)  Sitting tenants who are displaced as a result of demolition and who 

desire to return to the newly constructed building will be granted a right 

of first refusal subject to their ability to meet income qualifications and 

other applicable eligibility requirements when the new units are ready 

for occupancy. 

B.  Buildings with a Single Dwelling Unit.  

1.  Applicability. This subsection only applies to buildings with a single dwelling unit. 

2.  Limitation.  



   

Demolition Ordinance Update  

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance  

 

 

Page 5 of 12 

(a)  Demolition is not allowed if: 

i.  The building was removed from the rental market under the Ellis Act 

during the preceding five years; or 

ii.  There have been verified cases of harassment or threatened or actual 

illegal eviction during the immediately preceding three years. 

(b)  Where allegations of harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction are 

in dispute, either party may request a hearing before a Rent Board Hearing 

Examiner. The Rent Board Hearing Examiner will provide an assessment of the 

evidence and all available documentation to the ZAB. The ZAB shall determine 

whether harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction occurred. 

C.  Accessory Buildings. Notwithstanding anything in Municipal Code Title 23 (Zoning 

Ordinance) to the contrary, but subject to any applicable requirements in Municipal 

Code Section 3.24 (Landmarks Preservation Ordinance), accessory buildings of any 

size, including, but not limited to, garages, carports, and sheds, but not including any 

structure containing a lawfully established dwelling unit, which serves and is located on 

the same lot as a lawful residential use, may be demolished by right.  

23.326.040 Eliminating Dwelling Units through Conversion and Change of Use. 

A.  General. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit for the elimination of a dwelling unit in 

combination with another dwelling unit used for occupancy by a single household if it 

finds that: 

1.  The existing number of dwelling units exceeds maximum residential density in 

the district where the building is located; and 

2.  One of the following is true: 

(a)  One of the affected dwelling units has been occupied by the applicant’s 

household as its principal place of residence for no less than two years before 

the date of the application and none of the affected units are currently occupied 

by a tenant. 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update  

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance  

 

 

Page 6 of 12 

(b)  All of the affected dwelling units are being sold by an estate and the 

decedent occupied the units as their principal residence for no less than two 

years before the date of their death. 

B.  Limitations.  

1.  Demolition is not allowed if: 

(a)  The building was removed from the rental market under the Ellis Act during 

the preceding five years; or 

(b)  There have been verified cases of harassment or threatened or actual 

illegal eviction during the immediately preceding three years. 

2.  Where allegations of harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction are in 

dispute, either party may request a hearing before a Rent Board Hearing Examiner. 

The Rent Board Hearing Examiner will provide an assessment of the evidence and 

all available documentation to the ZAB. The ZAB shall determine whether 

harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction occurred. 

C.  Effect of Noncompliance with the Two-Year Requirement.  

1.  If a unit eliminated under Subsection A (General) is not occupied by the 

applicant’s household for at least two consecutive years from the date of 

elimination, the affected unit must be restored to separate status. 

2.  This requirement shall be implemented by a condition of approval and a notice 

of limitation on the property, acceptable to the City of Berkeley. 

3.  The condition and notice will provide that if the owner’s household does not 

occupy the unit for at least two years from the date of elimination the affected units 

must either be restored as separate dwelling units and the vacant unit(s) offered for 

rent within six months or the owner must pay a fee of $75,000 in 2013 dollars, 

adjusted in May of each year according to the Consumer Price Index for the San 

Francisco Bay Area. The fee shall be deposited into the City of Berkeley’s Housing 

Trust Fund. 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update  

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance  

 

 

Page 7 of 12 

4.  The City of Berkeley may exempt an applicant from the two-year residency 

requirement if of an unforeseeable life change that requires relocation. 

D.  Effect of Eliminating a Dwelling Unit.  

1.  If eliminating a dwelling unit reduces the number of units in a building to four, the 

applicant shall record a notice of limitation against the subject property that the 

limitation on eviction of tenants under Chapter 13 (Public Peace, Morals and 

Welfare) shall continue to apply until: 

(a)  The building is demolished; or 

(b)  Sufficient units are added or restored such that the building contains at 

least five units. 

2.  The Zoning Officer may issue an AUP for a building conversion which eliminates 

a dwelling unit upon finding that the conversion will restore or bring the building 

closer to the original number of dwelling units that was present at the time it was 

first constructed, provided the conversion meets the requirements 23.326.040.A.1 

and 2 and 23.326.040.B and C. 

E.  Exceptions.  

1.  The ZAB may approve a Use Permit for a change of use to a community care or 

a child care facility which eliminates a dwelling unit if it finds that such use is in 

conformance with the regulations of the district in which it is located. 

2.  The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to eliminate a dwelling unit through 

combination with another dwelling unit for the purpose of providing private 

bathrooms, kitchenettes, accessibility upgrades, and/or seismic safety upgrades to 

single-residential occupancy rooms in residential developments undergoing a 

publicly-funded rehabilitation. 

3.  Notwithstanding the general Use Permit requirement under 23.326.020 (General 

Requirements), a lawfully established accessory dwelling unit that is not a controlled 

rental unit may be eliminated with a Zoning Certificate if: 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update  

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance  

 

 

Page 8 of 12 

(a)  The re-conversion restores the original single-family use of the main 

building or lot; and 

(b)  No tenant is evicted.  

23.326.050 Private Right of Action. 

Any affected tenant may bring a private action for injunctive and/or compensatory relief 

against any applicant and/or owner to prevent or remedy a violation of Sections 

23.326.030 (Eliminating Dwelling Units through Demolition) and 23.326.040 (Eliminating 

Dwelling Units through Conversion and Change of Use). In any such action a prevailing 

plaintiff may recover reasonable attorney’s fees.  

23.326.060 Elimination of Residential Hotel Rooms. 

A.  General Requirements. Before removal, the following requirements must be met for 

the ZAB to approve a Use Permit for the elimination of residential hotel rooms: 

1.  The residential hotel owner shall provide or cause to be provided standard 

housing of at least comparable size and quality, at comparable rents and total 

monthly or weekly charges to each affected tenant. 

2.  One of the following three requirements shall be met: 

(a)  The residential hotel rooms being removed are replaced by a common use 

facility, including, but not limited to, a shared kitchen, lounge, or recreation 

room, that will be available to and primarily of benefit to the existing residents of 

the residential hotel and that a majority of existing residents give their consent 

to the removal of the rooms. 

(b)  Before the date on which the residential hotel rooms are removed, one-for-

one replacement of each room to be removed is made, with a comparable 

room, in one of the methods set forth in this section. 

(c)  Residential hotel rooms are removed because of building alterations related 

to seismic upgrade to the building or to improve access to meet the 

requirements of the American Disabilities Act (ADA). 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update  

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance  

 

 

Page 9 of 12 

B.  Criteria for Replacement Rooms. For purposes of this section, replacement rooms 

must be: 

1.  Substantially comparable in size, location, quality, and amenities; 

2.  Subject to rent and eviction controls substantially equivalent to those provided 

by the Rent Stabilization Ordinance or those that applied to the original rooms which 

are being replaced; and 

3.  Available at comparable rents and total monthly or weekly charges to those 

being removed. Comparable rooms may be provided by: 

(a)  Offering the existing tenants of the affected rooms the right of first refusal to 

occupy the replacement rooms; 

(b)  Making available comparable rooms, which are not already classified as 

residential hotel rooms to replace each of the rooms to be removed; or 

(c)  Paying to the City of Berkeley’s Housing Trust Fund an amount sufficient to 

provide replacement rooms. 

i.  The amount to be paid to the City of Berkeley shall be the difference 

between the replacement cost, including land cost, for the rooms and the 

amount which the City of Berkeley can obtain by getting a mortgage on the 

anticipated rents from the newly constructed rooms. 

ii.  The calculations shall assume that rents in the newly constructed rooms 

shall not exceed the greater of either a level comparable to the weekly or 

monthly charges for the replaced rooms or the level which would be 

charged if no current tenant paid more than 30 percent of such tenant’s 

gross income for rent. 

C.  Exception for Non-Profit Ownership. In a residential hotel owned and operated by a 

non-profit organization, recognized as tax-exempt by either the Franchise Tax Board 

and/or the Internal Revenue Service, residential hotel rooms may be changed to non-

residential hotel room uses if the average number of residential hotel rooms per day in 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update  

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance  

 

 

Page 10 of 12 

each calendar year is at least 95 percent of residential hotel rooms established for that 

particular residential hotel.  

23.326.070 Demolitions of Non-Residential Buildings. 

A.  Main Non-Residential Buildings. A main building used for non-residential purposes 

may be demolished with a Use Permit. 

B.  Accessory Buildings.  

1.  Demolishing an accessory building with less than 300 square feet of floor area is 

permitted as of right. 

2.  An accessory building with 300 square feet or more of floor area may be 

demolished with an AUP. 

C.  Landmarks Preservation Commission Review.  

1.  Any application for a Use Permit or AUP to demolish a non-residential building 

or structure which is 40 or more years old shall be forwarded to the Landmarks 

Preservation Commission (LPC) for review before consideration of the Use Permit 

or AUP. 

2.  The LPC may initiate a landmark or structure-of-merit designation or may 

choose solely to forward to the ZAB its comments on the application. 

3.  The ZAB shall consider the recommendations of the LPC in when acting on the 

application. 

D.  Findings. A Use Permit or an AUP for demolition of a non-residential building or 

structure may be approved only if the ZAB or the Zoning Officer finds that: 

1.  The demolition will not be materially detrimental to the commercial needs and 

public interest of any affected neighborhood or the City of Berkeley; and 

2.  The demolition: 

(a)  Is required to allow a proposed new building or other proposed new use; 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance 

Page 11 of 12 

(b) Will remove a building which is unusable for activities which are compatible

with the purposes of the district in which it is located or which is infeasible to 

modify for such uses; 

(c) Will remove a structure which represents an inhabitable attractive nuisance

to the public; or 

(d) Is required for the furtherance of specific plans or projects sponsored by

the City of Berkeley or other local district or authority upon a demonstration that 

it is infeasible to obtain prior or concurrent approval for the new construction or 

new use which is contemplated by such specific plans or projects and that 

adhering to such a requirement would threaten the viability of the plan or 

project.  

23.326.080 Building Relocations. 

A. Treatment of Building Relocation.

1. Relocating a building from a lot is considered a demolition for purposes of this

chapter. 

2. Relocating a building to a lot is considered new construction and is subject to all

requirements applicable to new construction. 

3. When a building is relocated to a different lot within in Berkeley, the lot from

which the building is removed shall be known as the source lot and the lot on which 

the building is to be sited shall be known as the receiving lot. In such cases all 

notification requirements apply to both the source and receiving lots. 

B. Findings. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to relocate a building upon finding

that: 

1. The building to be relocated is not in conflict with the architectural character, or

the building scale of the neighborhood or area to which it will be relocated; and 

2. The receiving lot provides adequate separation of buildings, privacy, yards, and

usable open space. 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance 

Page 12 of 12 

23.326.090 Limitations. 

A. Unsafe, Hazard, or Danger.

1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if a building or structure is unsafe,

presents a public hazard, and is not securable and/or is in imminent danger of 

collapse so as to endanger persons or property, as determined by the city’s building 

official, it may be demolished without a Use Permit. 

2. The Building Official’s determination in this matter shall be governed by the

standards and criteria in the most recent edition of the California Building Code that 

is in effect in the City of Berkeley. 

B. Ellis Act. This chapter shall be applied only to the extent permitted by state law as to

buildings which have been entirely withdrawn from the rental market pursuant to the 

Ellis Act (California Government Code Chapter 12.75).  



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Page 1 of 10 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AMENDING BERKELEY MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 23.326, DEMOLITION AND 

DWELLING UNIT CONTROLS 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows: 

Section 1. That Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 23.326 is hereby amended to read as 

follows: 

Chapter 23.326 DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROLS 

Sections: 

23.326.010 Chapter Purpose. 

23.326.020 General Requirements. 

23.326.030 Demolition of Residential Units. 

23.326.040 Eliminating Dwelling Units through Combination with Other Units. 

23.326.050 Demolition of Accessory Buildings. 

23.326.060 Private Right of Action. 

23.326.070 Demolition of Non-Residential Buildings. 

23.326.080 Building Relocations. 

23.326.090 Limitations. 

23.326.010 Chapter Purpose. 

This chapter establishes demolition and dwelling unit control standards that promote the 

affordable housing and safety goals of the City. 

23.326.020 General Requirements. 

A. No Residential Unit or units may be eliminated or demolished except as

authorized by this chapter. 

1. “Residential Unit” means, for purposes of this Chapter, any Dwelling

Unit, any Live-Work Unit, any Residential Hotel unit, or any bedroom of



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

 
            

 

 
Page 2 of 10 

a Group Living Accommodation (GLA) except a GLA in a University-

recognized fraternity, sorority or co-op.  

2. “Residential Unit” includes any Accessory Dwelling Unit or Junior Accessory 

Dwelling Unit to the extent that tenant notice, protections for eviction and 

relocation benefits outlined in this ordinance shall apply to any Accessory 

Dwelling Unit or Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit that is removed from the 

rental market. 

3. “Residential Unit” includes Dwelling Units created without proper Use 

Permit(s) or Building Permit(s) if they have been registered with the Rent 

Stabilization Board or there is substantial evidence of a tenant-landlord 

relationship during the preceding five years to the extent that tenant notice, 

protections for eviction and relocation benefits outlined in this ordinance 

shall apply to an illegal unit that is removed from the rental market. 

4. “Comparable Unit” means a dwelling unit of similar size (square footage and 

number of bedrooms), amenities (private open space and common 

facilities) and location within the city (neighborhood and school attendance 

area). 

23.326.030 Demolition of Residential Units. 

A. Limitation. Demolition is not allowed if: 

1. The unit (or units) was removed from the rental market through a no-fault 

eviction during the preceding five years; or 

2. There is substantial evidence of harassment or threatened or actual illegal 

eviction during the immediately preceding three years. Where allegations of 

harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction are in dispute, either party 

may request a hearing before a Rent Board Hearing Examiner, whose 

determination may be appealed to the Rent Stabilization Board. 

B. Procedure and Findings. A Use Permit is required to eliminate or demolish one or 

more Residential Units, except where otherwise provided by the Zoning Ordinance. 

The Board shall only approve the Use Permit if one of the following is true: 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

 
            

 

 
Page 3 of 10 

1. The building containing the units is hazardous or unusable and is infeasible 

to repair. 

2. The building containing the unit(s) will be moved to a different location within 

Berkeley with no net loss of units and no change in the rent levels of the unit(s). 

3. The demolition is necessary to permit construction of socially and/or 

economically beneficial uses that serve the greater good of the community.  

4. The demolition is necessary to permit construction approved pursuant to this 

chapter of at least the same number of dwelling units. 

C. Conditions of Approval. Any Residential Unit(s) that will be demolished shall be 

replaced with equivalent units and comply with applicable affordability requirements in 

Chapter 23.328 [Affordable Housing Requirements] and Chapter 23.330 [Density 

Bonus] as they may be amended from time to time. 

D. Requirements for Occupied Units. 

1. Applicability. The following requirements do not apply to tenants who move 

in after the application for demolition is submitted to the City if the owner informs 

each prospective tenant about the proposed demolition and that demolition 

constitutes good cause for eviction. 

2. Notice. The applicant shall provide all sitting tenants and the Rent 

Stabilization Board notice of the application to demolish the unit(s) no later than 

the date the application is submitted to the City, including notice of their rights 

under Municipal Code Chapter 13.76 (Rent Stabilization and Eviction for Good 

Cause Program), Chapter 13.77 (Requirements, Procedures, Restrictions and 

Mitigations Concerning the Withdrawal of Residential Rental Accommodations 

from Rent or Lease), 13.79 (Tenant Protections: Automatically Renewing 

Leases and Buyout Agreements) and 13.84 (Relocation Services and 

Payments for Residential Tenant Households). 

3. General Requirements. 

(a) The applicant shall provide assistance with moving and relocation 

assistance equivalent to the requirements set forth in Municipal Code 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

 
            

 

 
Page 4 of 10 

Chapter 13.84 or Government Code section 66300(d)(2)(D)(i), whichever 

requires greater relocation assistance to displaced tenants, and shall not be 

subject to the limitations in section 13.84.070.B.3(a). The applicant shall 

subsidize the rent differential for a comparable replacement unit, in the 

same neighborhood if feasible, until new units are ready for occupancy. 

Tenants shall have until the date that the new units are ready for occupancy 

to decide whether to move into the newly constructed building. Funding for 

the rent differential shall be guaranteed in a manner approved by the City 

Council by Resolution; provided, however, that any project that is carried out 

or funded by the state or federal government shall be subject to applicable 

provisions of the California Relocation Act (Government Code section 7260 

et seq.) and/or the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property 

Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended (42 U.S.C. sections 4601- 

4655). 

(b) Exception. An applicant who proposes to construct a 100-percent 

affordable housing project is not required to comply with this subsection but 

must comply with the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property 

Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 as amended and the California Relocation 

Act (Government Code sections 7260 et seq.). 

4. Sitting Tenants Rights. 

(a) Any tenant of a Residential Unit that is permitted to be demolished 

under this section shall have the right of first refusal to rent a comparable 

unit in the new project. 

(b) In the event that a displaced household is ineligible for Below-Market 

Rate replacement units, a market rate unit shall be made available to that 

household at the same rent as had been previously charged, or a lesser 

rent if that is the market rate. 

(c) Where a displaced tenant exercises the right to rent a comparable unit, 

any increase in rent for the comparable unit for the duration of their tenancy 

shall be no greater than the lesser of 65% of the increase in the Consumer 

Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U) in the San Francisco-



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

 
            

 

 
Page 5 of 10 

Oakland-San Jose region (as reported and published by the U.S. 

Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics for the twelve-month period 

ending the previous December 31) or 65% of the corresponding increase in 

Area Median Income (AMI) for the same calendar year. 

(d) Exception. 

i. An applicant who proposes to construct a 100 percent affordable 

housing project is not required to comply with the preceding 

requirements but must comply with the following requirement. 

ii. Sitting tenants who are displaced as a result of demolition and 

who desire to return to the newly constructed affordable housing 

project will be granted a right of first refusal subject to their ability 

to meet income qualifications and other applicable eligibility 

requirements. 

23.326.040 Eliminating Dwelling Units through Combination With Other Units. 

A. Process for Projects Where Density Exceeds Current Allowance. A Use Permit is 

required to eliminate one or more Residential Units by combining with another unit 

when the existing development exceeds currently-allowable density. The ZAB shall 

approve a Use Permit for the elimination of one or more Residential Units by 

combining with another unit only if it finds that: 

1. The existing number of units exceeds the current maximum allowed 

residential density in the zoning district where the units are located; and 

2. One of the following is true: 

(a) One of the affected units has been occupied by the applicant’s household 

as its principal place of residence for no less than two years before the date of 

the application and none of the affected units are currently occupied by a 

tenant. 

(b) All of the affected units are being sold by an estate and the decedent 

occupied the units as their principal residence for no less than two years 

before the date of their death. 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

 
            

 

 
Page 6 of 10 

B. Process for Projects That Restore Original Development Density. The Zoning 

Officer may issue an Administrative Use Permit (AUP) for a building conversion 

which eliminates a dwelling unit upon finding that the conversion will restore or bring 

the building closer to the original number of dwelling units that was present at the 

time it was first constructed. 

C. Limitations. Combination is not allowed if: 

1. The building was removed from the rental market through a no fault 

eviction during the preceding five years; or 

2. There is substantial evidence of harassment or threatened or actual 

illegal eviction during the immediately preceding three years. Where 

allegations of harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction are in 

dispute, either party may request a hearing before a Rent Board Hearing 

Examiner, whose determination may be appealed to the Rent Stabilization 

Board. 

D. Two-Year Occupancy Requirement Following Elimination 

1. If a unit that is eliminated through combination is not occupied by the applicant’s 

household for at least two consecutive years from the date of elimination, the 

affected unit must be restored to separate status. 

2. This requirement shall be implemented by a condition of approval and a notice of 

limitation on the property, acceptable to the City of Berkeley. 

3. The condition and notice will provide that if the owner’s household does not 

occupy the unit for at least two years from the date of elimination then the affected 

units must either be restored as separate dwelling units and the vacant unit(s) 

offered for rent within six months or the owner must pay a fee of $75,000 in 2013 

dollars, adjusted in May of each year according to the Consumer Price Index for 

the San Francisco Bay Area. The fee shall be deposited into the City of Berkeley’s 

Housing Trust Fund. 

4. The City of Berkeley may exempt an applicant from the two-year residency 

requirement if there is an unforeseeable life change that requires relocation. 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

 
            

 

 
Page 7 of 10 

E. Effect of Eliminating a Dwelling Unit.  

1.  If eliminating a dwelling unit reduces the number of units in a building to four, the 

applicant shall record a notice of limitation against the subject property that the 

limitation on eviction of tenants under Chapter 13 (Public Peace, Morals and Welfare) 

shall continue to apply until: 

(a)  The building is demolished; or 

(b)  Sufficient units are added or restored such that the building contains at 

least five units. 

2.  The Zoning Officer may issue an AUP for a building conversion which eliminates 

a dwelling unit upon finding that the conversion will restore or bring the building 

closer to the original number of dwelling units that was present at the time it was first 

constructed, provided the conversion meets the requirements of 23.326.040.A.1 and 

2 and 23.326.040.B and C. 

F. Exception. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to eliminate a dwelling unit through 

combination with another dwelling unit for the purpose of providing private bathrooms, 

kitchenettes, accessibility upgrades, and/or seismic safety upgrades to single-resident 

occupancy rooms in residential developments undergoing a publicly-funded 

rehabilitation. 

23.326.050 Demolition of Accessory Buildings. 

Notwithstanding anything in Municipal Code Title 23 (Zoning Ordinance) to the contrary, 

but subject to any applicable requirements in Municipal Code Section 3.24 (Landmarks 

Preservation Ordinance), Accessory Buildings of any size, including, but not limited to, 

garages, carports, and sheds may be demolished by right except where the Accessory 

Building is occupied by a residential tenant (regardless of whether it is lawfully 

permitted) or otherwise contains a lawfully established residential unit, which serves and 

is located on the same lot as a lawful residential use. 

23.326.060 Private Right of Action. 

Any affected tenant may bring a private action for injunctive and/or compensatory relief 

against any applicant and/or owner to prevent or remedy a violation of Sections 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

 
            

 

 
Page 8 of 10 

23.326.030 (Eliminating Dwelling Units through Demolition) and 23.326.040 (Eliminating 

Dwelling Units through Conversion and Change of Use). In any such action a prevailing 

plaintiff shall recover reasonable attorney’s fees. 

23.326.070 Demolition of Non-Residential Buildings. 

A. Main Non-Residential Buildings. A Use Permit is required to demolish a main 

building used for non-residential purposes on any lot. 

B. Accessory Buildings. For any lot located in a non-residential zoning district, 

Accessory Buildings may be demolished as follows: 

1. Demolishing an accessory building with less than 300 square feet of floor area is 

permitted as of right. 

2. An accessory building with 300 square feet or more of floor area may be 

demolished with an AUP. 

C. Landmarks Preservation Commission Review. 

1. Any application for a Use Permit or AUP to demolish a non-residential building or 

structure that is 40 or more years old shall be forwarded to the Landmarks 

Preservation Commission (LPC) for review before consideration of the Use Permit 

or AUP. 

2. The LPC may initiate a landmark or structure-of-merit designation or may choose 

solely to forward to the ZAB or Zoning Officer its comments on the application. 

3. The ZAB or Zoning Officer shall consider the recommendations of the LPC when 

acting on the application. 

D. Findings. A Use Permit or an AUP for demolition of a main building used for non- 

residential purposes on any lot or an accessory building located on a lot in a non- 

residential district may be approved only if the ZAB or the Zoning Officer finds that: 

1. The demolition will not be materially detrimental to the commercial needs and 

public interest of any affected neighborhood or the City of Berkeley; and 

2. The demolition: 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

 
            

 

 
Page 9 of 10 

(a) Is required to allow a proposed new building or other proposed new use; 

(b) Will remove a building which is unusable for activities which are compatible 

with the purposes of the district in which it is located or which is infeasible to 

modify for such uses; 

(c) Will remove a structure which represents an uninhabitable attractive 

nuisance to the public; or 

(d) Is required for the furtherance of specific plans or projects sponsored by the 

City of Berkeley or other local district or authority upon a demonstration that it is 

infeasible to obtain prior or concurrent approval for the new construction or new 

use which is contemplated by such specific plans or projects and that adhering 

to such a requirement would threaten the viability of the plan or project. 

23.326.080 Building Relocations. 

A. Treatment of Building Relocation. 

1. Relocating a building from a lot is considered a demolition for purposes of this 

chapter. 

2. Relocating a building to a lot within the city is considered new construction and is 

subject to all requirements applicable to new construction. 

3. When a building is relocated to a different lot within Berkeley, the lot from which 

the building is removed shall be known as the source lot and the lot on which the 

building is to be sited shall be known as the receiving lot. 

B. Findings. The Zoning Officer shall approve Zoning Certificate to relocate a building 

upon finding that the resulting development on the receiving lot is in conformance with 

applicable zoning code development standards. 

23.326.090 Limitations. 

A. Unsafe, Hazard, or Danger. 

1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if a building or structure is unsafe, 

presents a public hazard, and is not securable and/or is in imminent danger of 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

 
            

 

 
Page 10 of 10 

collapse so as to endanger persons or property, as determined by the city’s building 

official, it may be demolished without a Use Permit. 

2. The Building Official’s determination in this matter shall be governed by the 

standards and criteria in the most recent edition of the California Building Code that 

is in effect in the City of Berkeley. 

B. Ellis Act. This chapter shall be applied only to the extent permitted by state law as to 

buildings which have been entirely withdrawn from the rental market pursuant to the 

Ellis Act (California Government Code Chapter 12.75). 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 
Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 

Page 1 of 15 

ChapterORDINANCE NO. 

AMENDING BERKELEY MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 23.326 

, DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROLCONTROLS 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows: 

Section 1. That Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 23.326 is hereby amended to read as 

follows: 

Chapter 23.326 DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROLS 

Sections: 

23.326.010  Chapter Purpose. 

23.326.020  General Requirements. 

23.326.030  Eliminating Dwelling Units through Demolition. 

23.326.040  Eliminating Dwelling Units through Conversion and Change of Use. 

23.326.050  Private Right of Action. 

23.326.060  Elimination of Residential Hotel Rooms. 

23.326.070  Demolitions of Non-Residential Buildings. 

23.326.080  Building Relocations. 

23.326.090  Limitations. 

23.326.010 Chapter Purpose. 

23.326.020 General Requirements. 

23.326.030 Demolition of Residential Units. 

23.326.040 Eliminating Dwelling Units through Combination with Other Units. 

23.326.050 Demolition of Accessory Buildings. 

23.326.060 Private Right of Action. 

23.326.070 Demolition of Non-Residential Buildings. 

23.326.080 Building Relocations. 

23.326.090 Limitations. 

23.326.010 Chapter Purpose. 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 2 of 15 

This chapter establishes demolition and dwelling unit control standards that promote the 

affordable housing, aesthetic, and safety goals of the City. 

23.326.020 General Requirements. 

A. A.  Applicability. No dwelling unitResidential Unit or units may be 

eliminated or demolished except as authorized by this chapter. 

1. B.  Findings. In addition “Residential Unit” means, for purposes of this 

Chapter, any Dwelling Unit, any Live-Work Unit, any Residential Hotel 

unit, or any bedroom of a Group Living Accommodation (GLA) except a 

GLA in a University-recognized fraternity, sorority or co-op.  

2. “Residential Unit” includes any Accessory Dwelling Unit or Junior Accessory 

Dwelling Unit to the requirements below, the Zoning Adjustments Board 

(ZAB) may approve a extent that tenant notice, protections for eviction and 

relocation benefits outlined in this ordinance shall apply to any Accessory 

Dwelling Unit or Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit that is removed from the 

rental market. 

3. “Residential Unit” includes Dwelling Units created without proper Use Permit 

to eliminate or demolish a dwelling(s) or Building Permit(s) if they have 

been registered with the Rent Stabilization Board or there is substantial 

evidence of a tenant-landlord relationship during the preceding five years to 

the extent that tenant notice, protections for eviction and relocation benefits 

outlined in this ordinance shall apply to an illegal unit only upon finding that 

eliminatingis removed from the rental market. 

4. “Comparable Unit” means a dwelling unit would not be materially 

detrimental to the housing needs and public interest of the affected of 

similar size (square footage and number of bedrooms), amenities (private 

open space and common facilities) and location within the city 

(neighborhood and Berkeley. school attendance area). 

23.326.030 Eliminating Dwelling Units through Demolition. 

A.  Buildings with Two or More of Residential Units Constructed Before June 1980. . 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 3 of 15 

1.  Applicability. This subsection only applies to building with two or more units 

constructed before June 1980. 

2.  Limitation.  

A. (a)  Demolition is not allowed if: 

1. i.  The buildingunit (or units) was removed from the rental market under 

the Ellis Actthrough a no-fault eviction during the preceding five years; or 

ii.  There have been verified casesis substantial evidence of harassment or 

threatened or actual illegal eviction during the immediately preceding three 

years. 

2. (b)  Where allegations of harassment or threatened or actual illegal 

eviction are in dispute, either party may request a hearing before a Rent Board 

Hearing Examiner. The Rent Board Hearing Examiner will provide an 

assessment of the evidence and all available documentation to the ZAB. The 

ZAB shall determine whether harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction 

occurred, whose determination may be appealed to the Rent Stabilization Board. 

B. 3.  Procedure and Findings. The ZAB may approve aA Use Permit is required to 

eliminate or demolish a building constructed before June 1980 on a property 

containing twoone or more dwelling unitsResidential Units, except where otherwise 

provided by the Zoning Ordinance. The Board shall only approve the Use Permit if 

anyone of the following areis true: 

1. (a)  The building containing the units is hazardous or unusable and is 

infeasible to repair. 

2. (b)  The building containing the unitsunit(s) will be moved to a different 

location within Berkeley with no net loss of units and no change in the 

affordabilityrent levels of the units.unit(s). 

3. (c)  The demolition is necessary to permit construction of special housing 

needs facilities such as, but not limited to, childcare centerssocially and 

affordable housing developments/or economically beneficial uses that serve 

the greater good of the entire community.  



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 4 of 15 

4. (d)  The demolition is necessary to permit construction approved pursuant 

to this chapter of at least the same number of dwelling units. 

4.  Fee Required.  

(a)  The applicant shall pay a fee for each unit demolished to mitigate the impact 

of the loss of affordable housing in Berkeley. 

(b)  The amount of the fee shall be set by resolution of the City Council. 

(c)  In Lieu of a Fee.  

i.  In lieu of paying the impact fee, the applicant may provide a designated unit 

in the new project at a below market rate to a qualifying household in 

perpetuity. 

ii.  The affordability level of the below market rent and the income level of the 

qualifying household shall be set by resolution of the City Council. 

iii.  The applicant shall enter into a regulatory agreement with the City of 

Berkeley to provide the in lieu units. 

5.  C. Conditions of Approval. Any Residential Unit(s) that will be demolished shall be 

replaced with equivalent units and comply with applicable affordability requirements in 

Chapter 23.328 [Affordable Housing Requirements] and Chapter 23.330 [Density 

Bonus] as they may be amended from time to time. 

D. Requirements for Occupied Units.  

(a)  Applicability.  

i.  The requirements in this subsection apply if units to be demolished are 

occupied. 

1. ii.  TheseThe following requirements do not apply to tenants who move in 

after the application for demolition is submitted to the City if the owner informs 

each prospective tenant about the proposed demolition and that demolition 

constitutes good cause for eviction. 

2. (b)  Notice. The applicant shall provide all sitting tenants and the Rent 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 5 of 15 

Stabilization Board notice of the application to demolish the buildingunit(s) no 

later than the date itthe application is submitted to the City, including notice of 

their rights under Municipal Code SectionChapter 13.76 (Rent Stabilization and 

Eviction for Good Cause Program), Chapter 13.77 (Requirements, Procedures, 

Restrictions and Mitigations Concerning the Withdrawal of Residential Rental 

Accommodations from Rent or Lease), 13.79 (Tenant Protections: 

Automatically Renewing Leases and Buyout Agreements) and 13.84 

(Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households). 

3. (c)  General Requirements.  

i.  The applicant shall provide assistance with moving expensesand relocation 

assistance equivalent to the requirements set forth in Chapter 13.84 

(Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households). 

(a) ii. Municipal Code Chapter 13.84 or Government Code section 

66300(d)(2)(D)(i), whichever requires greater relocation assistance to 

displaced tenants, and shall not be subject to the limitations in section 

13.84.070.B.3(a). The applicant shall subsidize the rent differential for a 

comparable replacement unit, in the same neighborhood if feasible, until 

new units are ready for occupancy. Tenants shall have until the date that 

the new units are ready for occupancy to decide whether to move into the 

newly constructed building. Funding for the rent differential shall be 

guaranteed in a manner approved by the City. Council by Resolution; 

provided, however, that any project that is carried out or funded by the state 

or federal government shall be subject to applicable provisions of the 

California Relocation Act (Government Code section 7260 et seq.) and/or 

the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies 

Act of 1970, as amended (42 U.S.C. sections 4601- 4655). 

(b) iii.  Exception. An applicant who proposes to construct a 100 -percent 

affordable housing project is not required to comply with this subsection but 

must comply with the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property 

Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 as amended and the California Relocation 

Act (Government Code sections 72607260 et seq.). 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 6 of 15 

4. (d)  Sitting Tenants Rights.  

i.  Sitting tenants who are displaced as a resultAny tenant of demolition shall 

be provided the right of first refusal to move into the new building. 

(a) ii.  Tenants of unitsa Residential Unit that are is permitted to be 

demolished under this section shall have the right of first refusal to rent 

new below-a comparable unit in the new project. 

(b) In the event that a displaced household is ineligible for Below-Market 

Rate replacement units, a market rate units designatedunit shall be made 

available to replace the units that were demolished,household at the same 

rent that would have appliedas had been previously charged, or a lesser 

rent if they had remained in place, as long as that is the market rate. 

(c) Where a displaced tenant exercises the right to rent a comparable unit, 

any increase in rent for the comparable unit for the duration of their tenancy 

continuesshall be no greater than the lesser of 65% of the increase in the 

Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U) in the San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose region (as reported and published by the U.S. 

Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics for the twelve-month period 

ending the previous December 31) or 65% of the corresponding increase in 

Area Median Income (AMI) for the same calendar year. 

iii.  Income restrictions do not apply to displaced tenants. 

(d) iv.  Exception.  

i. (1)  An applicant who proposes to construct a 100 percent 

affordable housing project is not required to comply with 

23.326.030.A.5.a, b, and c,the preceding requirements but must 

comply with the following requirement. 

ii. (2)  Sitting tenants who are displaced as a result of demolition 

and who desire to return to the newly constructed 

buildingaffordable housing project will be granted a right of first 

refusal subject to their ability to meet income qualifications and 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 7 of 15 

other applicable eligibility requirements when the new units are 

ready for occupancy. 

B.  Buildings with a Single Dwelling Unit.  

1.  Applicability. This subsection only applies to buildings with a single dwelling unit. 

2.  Limitation.  

(a)  Demolition is not allowed if: 

i.  The building was removed from the rental market under the Ellis Act during 

the preceding five years; or 

ii.  There have been verified cases of harassment or threatened or actual 

illegal eviction during the immediately preceding three years. 

(b)  Where allegations of harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction are in 

dispute, either party may request a hearing before a Rent Board Hearing 

Examiner. The Rent Board Hearing Examiner will provide an assessment of the 

evidence and all available documentation to the ZAB. The ZAB shall determine 

whether harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction occurred. 

C.  Accessory Buildings. Notwithstanding anything in Municipal Code Title 23 (Zoning 

Ordinance) to the contrary, but subject to any applicable requirements in Municipal Code 

Section 3.24 (Landmarks Preservation Ordinance), accessory buildings of any size, 

including, but not limited to, garages, carports, and sheds, but not including any structure 

containing a lawfully established dwelling unit, which serves and is located on the same lot 

as a lawful residential use, may be demolished by right.  

23.326.040 Eliminating Dwelling Units through Conversion and Change of 

UseCombination With Other Units. 

A. Process for Projects Where Density Exceeds Current Allowance. A.  General. The 

ZAB may  Use Permit is required to eliminate one or more Residential Units by 

combining with another unit when the existing development exceeds currently-

allowable density. The ZAB shall approve a Use Permit for the elimination of a 

dwelling unit in combination with another dwelling unit used for occupancyone or more 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 8 of 15 

Residential Units by a single household combining with another unit only if it finds that: 

1. 1.  The existing number of dwelling units exceeds the current maximum 

allowed residential density in the zoning district where the building isunits are 

located; and 

2. 2.  One of the following is true: 

(a) (a)  One of the affected dwelling units has been occupied by the 

applicant’s household as its principal place of residence for no less than two 

years before the date of the application and none of the affected units are 

currently occupied by a tenant. 

(b) (b)  All of the affected dwelling units are being sold by an estate and 

the decedent occupied the units as their principal residence for no less than 

two years before the date of their death. 

B. B.  Process for Projects That Restore Original Development Density. The 

Zoning Officer may issue an Administrative Use Permit (AUP) for a building 

conversion which eliminates a dwelling unit upon finding that the conversion will 

restore or bring the building closer to the original number of dwelling units that was 

present at the time it was first constructed. 

Limitations.  

C. 1.  DemolitionCombination is not allowed if: 

1. (a)  The building was removed from the rental market under the 

Ellis Actthrough a no fault eviction during the preceding five years; or 

(b)  There have been verified casesis substantial evidence of harassment or 

threatened or actual illegal eviction during the immediately preceding three years. 

2. 2.  Where allegations of harassment or threatened or actual illegal 

eviction are in dispute, either party may request a hearing before a Rent 

Board Hearing Examiner. The Rent Board Hearing Examiner will provide an 

assessment of the evidence and all available documentation to the ZAB. 

The ZAB shall determine whether harassment or threatened or actual illegal 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 9 of 15 

eviction occurred, whose determination may be appealed to the Rent 

Stabilization Board. 

D. C.  Effect of Noncompliance with the Two-Year Occupancy Requirement.  Following 

Elimination 

1. 1.  If a unit that is eliminated under Subsection A (General)through combination 

is not occupied by the applicant’s household for at least two consecutive years 

from the date of elimination, the affected unit must be restored to separate status. 

2. 2.  This requirement shall be implemented by a condition of approval and a 

notice of limitation on the property, acceptable to the City of Berkeley. 

3. 3.  The condition and notice will provide that if the owner’s household does not 

occupy the unit for at least two years from the date of elimination then the affected 

units must either be restored as separate dwelling units and the vacant unit(s) 

offered for rent within six months or the owner must pay a fee of $75,000 in 2013 

dollars, adjusted in May of each year according to the Consumer Price Index for 

the San Francisco Bay Area. The fee shall be deposited into the City of Berkeley’s 

Housing Trust Fund. 

4. 4.  The City of Berkeley may exempt an applicant from the two-year 

residency requirement if ofthere is an unforeseeable life change that requires 

relocation. 

E. D.  Effect of Eliminating a Dwelling Unit.  

1.  If eliminating a dwelling unit reduces the number of units in a building to four, the 

applicant shall record a notice of limitation against the subject property that the 

limitation on eviction of tenants under Chapter 13 (Public Peace, Morals and Welfare) 

shall continue to apply until: 

(a)  The building is demolished; or 

(b)  Sufficient units are added or restored such that the building contains at 

least five units. 

2.  The Zoning Officer may issue an AUP for a building conversion which eliminates 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 10 of 15 

a dwelling unit upon finding that the conversion will restore or bring the building 

closer to the original number of dwelling units that was present at the time it was first 

constructed, provided the conversion meets the requirements of 23.326.040.A.1 and 

2 and 23.326.040.B and C. 

E.  Exceptions.  

1.  The ZAB may approve a Use Permit for a change of use to a community care or a 

child care facility which eliminates a dwelling unit if it finds that such use is in 

conformance with the regulations of the district in which it is located. 

F. 2. Exception. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to eliminate a dwelling unit through 

combination with another dwelling unit for the purpose of providing private bathrooms, 

kitchenettes, accessibility upgrades, and/or seismic safety upgrades to single-

residentialresident occupancy rooms in residential developments undergoing a 

publicly-funded rehabilitation. 

3.  Notwithstanding the general Use Permit requirement under 23.326.020 (General 

Requirements), a lawfully established accessory dwelling unit that is not a controlled 

rental unit may be eliminated with a Zoning Certificate if: 

(a)  The re-conversion restores the original single-family use of the main building 

or lot; and 

(b)  No tenant is evicted.  

23.326.05023.326.050 Demolition of Accessory Buildings. 

Notwithstanding anything in Municipal Code Title 23 (Zoning Ordinance) to the contrary, 

but subject to any applicable requirements in Municipal Code Section 3.24 (Landmarks 

Preservation Ordinance), Accessory Buildings of any size, including, but not limited to, 

garages, carports, and sheds may be demolished by right except where the Accessory 

Building is occupied by a residential tenant (regardless of whether it is lawfully 

permitted) or otherwise contains a lawfully established residential unit, which serves and 

is located on the same lot as a lawful residential use. 

23.326.060 Private Right of Action. 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 11 of 15 

Any affected tenant may bring a private action for injunctive and/or compensatory relief 

against any applicant and/or owner to prevent or remedy a violation of Sections 

23.326.030 (Eliminating Dwelling Units through Demolition) and 23.326.040 (Eliminating 

Dwelling Units through Conversion and Change of Use). In any such action a prevailing 

plaintiff mayshall recover reasonable attorney’s fees.  

23.326.060 Elimination of Residential Hotel Rooms. 

A.  General Requirements. Before removal, the following requirements must be met for 

the ZAB to approve a Use Permit for the elimination of residential hotel rooms: 

1.  The residential hotel owner shall provide or cause to be provided standard housing 

of at least comparable size and quality, at comparable rents and total monthly or 

weekly charges to each affected tenant. 

2.  One of the following three requirements shall be met: 

(a)  The residential hotel rooms being removed are replaced by a common use 

facility, including, but not limited to, a shared kitchen, lounge, or recreation room, 

that will be available to and primarily of benefit to the existing residents of the 

residential hotel and that a majority of existing residents give their consent to the 

removal of the rooms. 

(b)  Before the date on which the residential hotel rooms are removed, one-for-

one replacement of each room to be removed is made, with a comparable room, 

in one of the methods set forth in this section. 

(c)  Residential hotel rooms are removed because of building alterations related 

to seismic upgrade to the building or to improve access to meet the requirements 

of the American Disabilities Act (ADA). 

B.  Criteria for Replacement Rooms. For purposes of this section, replacement rooms 

must be: 

1.  Substantially comparable in size, location, quality, and amenities; 

2.  Subject to rent and eviction controls substantially equivalent to those provided by 

the Rent Stabilization Ordinance or those that applied to the original rooms which are 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 12 of 15 

being replaced; and 

3.  Available at comparable rents and total monthly or weekly charges to those being 

removed. Comparable rooms may be provided by: 

(a)  Offering the existing tenants of the affected rooms the right of first refusal to 

occupy the replacement rooms; 

(b)  Making available comparable rooms, which are not already classified as 

residential hotel rooms to replace each of the rooms to be removed; or 

(c)  Paying to the City of Berkeley’s Housing Trust Fund an amount sufficient to 

provide replacement rooms. 

i.  The amount to be paid to the City of Berkeley shall be the difference 

between the replacement cost, including land cost, for the rooms and the 

amount which the City of Berkeley can obtain by getting a mortgage on the 

anticipated rents from the newly constructed rooms. 

ii.  The calculations shall assume that rents in the newly constructed rooms 

shall not exceed the greater of either a level comparable to the weekly or 

monthly charges for the replaced rooms or the level which would be charged if 

no current tenant paid more than 30 percent of such tenant’s gross income for 

rent. 

C.  Exception for Non-Profit Ownership. In a residential hotel owned and operated by a 

non-profit organization, recognized as tax-exempt by either the Franchise Tax Board 

and/or the Internal Revenue Service, residential hotel rooms may be changed to non-

residential hotel room uses if the average number of residential hotel rooms per day in 

each calendar year is at least 95 percent of residential hotel rooms established for that 

particular residential hotel.  

23.326.070 DemolitionsDemolition of Non-Residential Buildings. 

A. A.  Main Non-Residential Buildings. AA Use Permit is required to demolish a 

main building used for non-residential purposes may be demolished with a Use 

Permiton any lot. 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 13 of 15 

B. B.  Accessory Buildings. For any lot located in a non-residential zoning 

district, Accessory Buildings may be demolished as follows: 

1. 1.  Demolishing an accessory building with less than 300 square feet of floor 

area is permitted as of right. 

2. 2.  An accessory building with 300 square feet or more of floor area 

may be demolished with an AUP. 

C. C.  Landmarks Preservation Commission Review.  

1. 1.  Any application for a Use Permit or AUP to demolish a non-residential 

building or structure whichthat is 40 or more years old shall be forwarded to the 

Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC) for review before consideration of the 

Use Permit or AUP. 

2. 2.  The LPC may initiate a landmark or structure-of-merit designation or may 

choose solely to forward to the ZAB or Zoning Officer its comments on the 

application. 

3. 3.  The ZAB or Zoning Officer shall consider the recommendations of the LPC in 

when acting on the application. 

D. D.  Findings. A Use Permit or an AUP for demolition of a main building used for 

non- residential building or structurepurposes on any lot or an accessory building 

located on a lot in a non- residential district may be approved only if the ZAB or the 

Zoning Officer finds that: 

1. 1.  The demolition will not be materially detrimental to the commercial needs 

and public interest of any affected neighborhood or the City of Berkeley; and 

2. 2.  The demolition: 

(a) (a)  Is required to allow a proposed new building or other proposed new use; 

(b) (b)  Will remove a building which is unusable for activities which are 

compatible with the purposes of the district in which it is located or which is 

infeasible to modify for such uses; 



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 14 of 15 

(c) (c)  Will remove a structure which represents an 

inhabitableuninhabitable attractive nuisance to the public; or 

(d) (d)  Is required for the furtherance of specific plans or projects sponsored 

by the City of Berkeley or other local district or authority upon a demonstration 

that it is infeasible to obtain prior or concurrent approval for the new 

construction or new use which is contemplated by such specific plans or 

projects and that adhering to such a requirement would threaten the viability of 

the plan or project.  

23.326.080 Building Relocations. 

A. A.  Treatment of Building Relocation.  

1. 1.  Relocating a building from a lot is considered a demolition for purposes of 

this chapter. 

2. 2.  Relocating a building to a lot within the city is considered new construction 

and is subject to all requirements applicable to new construction. 

3. 3.  When a building is relocated to a different lot within in Berkeley, the lot from 

which the building is removed shall be known as the source lot and the lot on 

which the building is to be sited shall be known as the receiving lot. In such cases 

all notification requirements apply to both the source and receiving lots. 

B.  Findings. The ZAB mayZoning Officer shall approve a Use PermitZoning Certificate to 

relocate a building upon finding that: 

1.  The building to be relocated is not in conflict with  the architectural character, 

orresulting development on the building scale of the neighborhood or area to which it 

will be relocated; and 

B. 2.  The receiving lot provides adequate separation of buildings, privacy, yards, and 

usable open space. is in conformance with applicable zoning code development 

standards. 

23.326.090 Limitations. 

A. A.  Unsafe, Hazard, or Danger.  



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 2 – Revised Draft Ordinance 

Planning Commission 

February 1, 2023 

   

Demolition Ordinance Update Planning Commission 

Attachment 1 – Existing Ordinance February 1, 2023 
         

 

 
Page 15 of 15 

1. 1.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if a building or structure is unsafe, 

presents a public hazard, and is not securable and/or is in imminent danger of 

collapse so as to endanger persons or property, as determined by the city’s building 

official, it may be demolished without a Use Permit. 

2. 2.  The Building Official’s determination in this matter shall be governed by the 

standards and criteria in the most recent edition of the California Building Code that 

is in effect in the City of Berkeley. 

B.  Ellis Act. This chapter shall be applied only to the extent permitted by state law as to 

buildings which have been entirely withdrawn from the rental market pursuant to the Ellis 

Act (California Government Code Chapter 12.75).  

B.  



Demolition Ordinance Update 

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts 

Page 1 of 14 

Govt. Code section 66300 (SB-330, Housing Crisis Act of 2019) 
…….. 
(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, both of the following shall apply:

(1) An affected city or an affected county shall not approve a housing
development project that will require the demolition of residential dwelling units unless 
the project will create at least as many residential dwelling units as will be demolished. 

(2) An affected city or an affected county shall not approve a housing
development project that will require the demolition of occupied or vacant protected 
units, unless all of the following apply:  

(A) (i) The project will replace all existing or demolished protected
units.

(ii) Any protected units replaced pursuant to this subparagraph shall
be considered in determining whether the housing development project 
satisfies the requirements of Section 65915 or a locally adopted 
requirement that requires, as a condition of the development of residential 
rental units, that the project provide a certain percentage of residential 
rental units affordable to, and occupied by, households with incomes that 
do not exceed the limits for moderate-income, lower income, very low 
income, or extremely low income households, as specified in Sections 
50079.5, 50093, 50105, and 50106 of the Health and Safety Code.  

(iii) Notwithstanding clause (i), in the case of a protected unit that is
or was, within the five-year period preceding the application, subject to a 
form of rent or price control through a local government’s valid exercise of 
its police power, and that is or was occupied by persons or families above 
lower income, the affected city or affected county may do either of the 
following:  

(I) Require that the replacement units be made available at
affordable rent or affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, low-
income persons or families. If the replacement units will be rental 
dwelling units, these units shall be subject to a recorded 
affordability restriction for at least 55 years.  

(II) Require that the units be replaced in compliance with the
jurisdiction’s rent or price control ordinance, provided that each unit 
is replaced. Unless otherwise required by the affected city or 
affected county’s rent or price control ordinance, these units shall 
not be subject to a recorded affordability restriction.  

(B) The housing development project will include at least as many
residential dwelling units as the greatest number of residential dwelling units that 
existed on the project site within the last five years.  



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 2 of 14 
 

 
(C) Any existing residents will be allowed to occupy their units until six 

months before the start of construction activities with proper notice, subject to 
Chapter 16 (commencing with Section 7260) of Division 7 of Title 1.  

 
(D) The developer agrees to provide both of the following to the occupants 

of any protected units:  
(i) Relocation benefits to the occupants of those affordable 

residential rental units, subject to Chapter 16 (commencing with Section 
7260) of Division 7 of Title 1.  

(ii) A right of first refusal for a comparable unit available in the new 
housing development affordable to the household at an affordable rent, as 
defined in Section 50053 of the Health and Safety Code, or an affordable 
housing cost, as defined in 50052.5.  
 
(E) For purposes of this paragraph:  

(i) “Equivalent size” means that the replacement units contain at 
least the same total number of bedrooms as the units being replaced.  

(ii) “Protected units” means any of the following:  
(I) Residential dwelling units that are or were subject to a 

recorded covenant, ordinance, or law that restricts rents to levels 
affordable to persons and families of lower or very low income 
within the past five years.  

(II) Residential dwelling units that are or were subject to any 
form of rent or price control through a public entity’s valid exercise 
of its police power within the past five years.  

(III) Residential dwelling units that are or were occupied by 
lower or very low income households within the past five years.  

(IV) Residential dwelling units that were withdrawn from rent 
or lease in accordance with Chapter 12.75 (commencing with 
Section 7060) of Division 7 of Title 1 within the past 10 years.  
(iii) “Replace” shall have the same meaning as provided in 

subparagraph (B) of paragraph (3) of subdivision (c) of Section 65915.  
 
(3) This subdivision shall not supersede any objective provision of a locally 

adopted ordinance that places restrictions on the demolition of residential dwelling units 
or the subdivision of residential rental units that are more protective of lower income 
households, requires the provision of a greater number of units affordable to lower 
income households, or that requires greater relocation assistance to displaced 
households.  

 
(4) This subdivision shall only apply to a housing development project that 

submits a complete application pursuant to Section 65943 on or after January 1, 2020. 

  



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 3 of 14 
 

 

Govt. Code section 65915 (Density Bonus Law) 

(c)  (1)  (A) An applicant shall agree to, and the city, county, or city and county 
shall ensure, the continued affordability of all very low and low-income rental units that 
qualified the applicant for the award of the density bonus for 55 years or a longer period 
of time if required by the construction or mortgage financing assistance program, 
mortgage insurance program, or rental subsidy program. 

(B)  (i) Except as otherwise provided in clause (ii), rents for the lower 
income density bonus units shall be set at an affordable rent, as defined in 
Section 50053 of the Health and Safety Code. 

(ii) For housing developments meeting the criteria of subparagraph 
(G) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b), rents for all units in the 
development, including both base density and density bonus units, shall 
be as follows: 

(I) The rent for at least 20 percent of the units in the 
development shall be set at an affordable rent, as defined in 
Section 50053 of the Health and Safety Code. 

(II) The rent for the remaining units in the development shall 
be set at an amount consistent with the maximum rent levels for a 
housing development that receives an allocation of state or federal 
low-income housing tax credits from the California Tax Credit 
Allocation Committee. 

(2) An applicant shall agree to, and the city, county, or city and county shall 
ensure that, the initial occupant of all for-sale units that qualified the applicant for the 
award of the density bonus are persons and families of very low, low, or moderate 
income, as required, and that the units are offered at an affordable housing cost, as that 
cost is defined in Section 50052.5 of the Health and Safety Code. The local government 
shall enforce an equity sharing agreement, unless it is in conflict with the requirements 
of another public funding source or law. The following apply to the equity sharing 
agreement: 

(A) Upon resale, the seller of the unit shall retain the value of any 
improvements, the downpayment, and the seller’s proportionate share of 
appreciation. The local government shall recapture any initial subsidy, as defined 
in subparagraph (B), and its proportionate share of appreciation, as defined in 
subparagraph (C), which amount shall be used within five years for any of the 
purposes described in subdivision (e) of Section 33334.2 of the Health and 
Safety Code that promote home ownership. 

(B) For purposes of this subdivision, the local government’s initial subsidy 
shall be equal to the fair market value of the home at the time of initial sale minus 
the initial sale price to the moderate-income household, plus the amount of any 
downpayment assistance or mortgage assistance. If upon resale the market 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 4 of 14 
 

value is lower than the initial market value, then the value at the time of the 
resale shall be used as the initial market value. 

(C) For purposes of this subdivision, the local government’s proportionate 
share of appreciation shall be equal to the ratio of the local government’s initial 
subsidy to the fair market value of the home at the time of initial sale. 

(3)  (A) An applicant shall be ineligible for a density bonus or any other 
incentives or concessions under this section if the housing development is proposed on 
any property that includes a parcel or parcels on which rental dwelling units are or, if the 
dwelling units have been vacated or demolished in the five-year period preceding the 
application, have been subject to a recorded covenant, ordinance, or law that restricts 
rents to levels affordable to persons and families of lower or very low income; subject to 
any other form of rent or price control through a public entity’s valid exercise of its police 
power; or occupied by lower or very low income households, unless the proposed 
housing development replaces those units, and either of the following applies: 

(i) The proposed housing development, inclusive of the units 
replaced pursuant to this paragraph, contains affordable units at the 
percentages set forth in subdivision (b). 

(ii) Each unit in the development, exclusive of a manager’s unit or 
units, is affordable to, and occupied by, either a lower or very low income 
household. 

(B) For the purposes of this paragraph, “replace” shall mean either of the 
following: 

(i) If any dwelling units described in subparagraph (A) are occupied 
on the date of application, the proposed housing development shall 
provide at least the same number of units of equivalent size to be made 
available at affordable rent or affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, 
persons and families in the same or lower income category as those 
households in occupancy. If the income category of the household in 
occupancy is not known, it shall be rebuttably presumed that lower income 
renter households occupied these units in the same proportion of lower 
income renter households to all renter households within the jurisdiction, 
as determined by the most recently available data from the United States 
Department of Housing and Urban Development’s Comprehensive 
Housing Affordability Strategy database. For unoccupied dwelling units 
described in subparagraph (A) in a development with occupied units, the 
proposed housing development shall provide units of equivalent size to be 
made available at affordable rent or affordable housing cost to, and 
occupied by, persons and families in the same or lower income category 
as the last household in occupancy. If the income category of the last 
household in occupancy is not known, it shall be rebuttably presumed that 
lower income renter households occupied these units in the same 
proportion of lower income renter households to all renter households 
within the jurisdiction, as determined by the most recently available data 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 5 of 14 
 

from the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development’s 
Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy database. All replacement 
calculations resulting in fractional units shall be rounded up to the next 
whole number. If the replacement units will be rental dwelling units, these 
units shall be subject to a recorded affordability restriction for at least 55 
years. If the proposed development is for-sale units, the units replaced 
shall be subject to paragraph (2). 

(ii) If all dwelling units described in subparagraph (A) have been 
vacated or demolished within the five-year period preceding the 
application, the proposed housing development shall provide at least the 
same number of units of equivalent size as existed at the highpoint of 
those units in the five-year period preceding the application to be made 
available at affordable rent or affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, 
persons and families in the same or lower income category as those 
persons and families in occupancy at that time, if known. If the incomes of 
the persons and families in occupancy at the highpoint is not known, it 
shall be rebuttably presumed that low-income and very low income renter 
households occupied these units in the same proportion of low-income 
and very low income renter households to all renter households within the 
jurisdiction, as determined by the most recently available data from the 
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development’s 
Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy database. All replacement 
calculations resulting in fractional units shall be rounded up to the next 
whole number. If the replacement units will be rental dwelling units, these 
units shall be subject to a recorded affordability restriction for at least 55 
years. If the proposed development is for-sale units, the units replaced 
shall be subject to paragraph (2). 

(C) Notwithstanding subparagraph (B), for any dwelling unit described in 
subparagraph (A) that is or was, within the five-year period preceding the 
application, subject to a form of rent or price control through a local government’s 
valid exercise of its police power and that is or was occupied by persons or 
families above lower income, the city, county, or city and county may do either of 
the following: 

(i) Require that the replacement units be made available at 
affordable rent or affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, low-income 
persons or families. If the replacement units will be rental dwelling units, 
these units shall be subject to a recorded affordability restriction for at 
least 55 years. If the proposed development is for-sale units, the units 
replaced shall be subject to paragraph (2). 

(ii) Require that the units be replaced in compliance with the 
jurisdiction’s rent or price control ordinance, provided that each unit 
described in subparagraph (A) is replaced. Unless otherwise required by 
the jurisdiction’s rent or price control ordinance, these units shall not be 
subject to a recorded affordability restriction. 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 6 of 14 
 

(D) For purposes of this paragraph, “equivalent size” means that the 
replacement units contain at least the same total number of bedrooms as the 
units being replaced. 

(E) Subparagraph (A) does not apply to an applicant seeking a density 
bonus for a proposed housing development if the applicant’s application was 
submitted to, or processed by, a city, county, or city and county before January 1, 
2015. 

 

  



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 7 of 14 
 

Govt. Code section 7060 et seq (Ellis Act) 
   

(a) No public entity, as defined in Section 811.2, shall, by statute, ordinance, or 
regulation, or by administrative action implementing any statute, ordinance or 
regulation, compel the owner of any residential real property to offer, or to continue to 
offer, accommodations in the property for rent or lease, except for guestrooms or 
efficiency units within a residential hotel, as defined in Section 50519 of the Health and 
Safety Code, if the residential hotel meets all of the following conditions: 

(1) The residential hotel is located in a city and county, or in a city with a 
population of over 1,000,000. 

(2) The residential hotel has a permit of occupancy issued prior to January 
1, 1990. 

(3) The residential hotel did not send a notice of intent to withdraw the 
accommodations from rent or lease pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 7060.4 
that was delivered to the public entity prior to January 1, 2004. 

 
(b) For the purposes of this chapter, the following definitions apply: 

(1) “Accommodations” means either of the following: 
(A) The residential rental units in any detached physical structure 

containing four or more residential rental units. 
(B) With respect to a detached physical structure containing three 

or fewer residential rental units, the residential rental units in that structure 
and in any other structure located on the same parcel of land, including 
any detached physical structure specified in subparagraph (A). 
(2) “Disabled” means a person with a disability, as defined in Section 

12955.3 of the Government Code. 
 
7060.1 
   
Notwithstanding Section 7060, nothing in this chapter does any of the following: 
 

(a) Prevents a public entity from enforcing any contract or agreement by which 
an owner of residential real property has agreed to offer the accommodations for rent or 
lease in consideration for a direct financial contribution or, with respect to written 
contracts or agreements entered into prior to July 1, 1986, for any consideration. Any 
contract or agreement specified in this subdivision is not enforceable against a person 
who acquires title to the accommodations as a bona fide purchaser for value (or 
successors in interest thereof), unless: 

(1) the purchaser at the time of acquiring title to the accommodations has 
actual knowledge of the contract or agreement, or  

(2) a written memorandum of the contract or agreement which specifically 
describes the terms thereof and the affected real property, and which identifies 
the owner of the property, has been recorded with the county recorder prior to 
July 1, 1986, or not less than 30 days prior to transfer of title to the property to 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 8 of 14 
 

the purchaser. The county recorder shall index such a written memorandum in 
the grantor-grantee index. 

 
As used in this subdivision, “direct financial contribution” includes contributions specified 
in Section 65916 and any form of interest rate subsidy or tax abatement provided to 
facilitate the acquisition or development of real property. 
 

(b) Diminishes or enhances, except as specifically provided in Section 7060.2, 
any power which currently exists or which may hereafter exist in any public entity to 
grant or deny any entitlement to the use of real property, including, but not limited to, 
planning, zoning, and subdivision map approvals. 
 

(c) Diminishes or enhances any power in any public entity to mitigate any 
adverse impact on persons displaced by reason of the withdrawal from rent or lease of 
any accommodations. 
 

(d) Supersedes any provision of Chapter 16 (commencing with Section 7260) of 
this division, Part 2.8 (commencing with Section 12900) of Division 3 of Title 2 of this 
code, Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 17200) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the 
Business and Professions Code, Part 2 (commencing with Section 43) of Division 1 of 
the Civil Code, Title 5 (commencing with Section 1925) of Part 4 of Division 3 of the 
Civil Code, Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 1159) of Title 3 of Part 3 of the Code 
of Civil Procedure, or Division 24 (commencing with Section 33000) of the Health and 
Safety Code. 
 

(e) Relieves any party to a lease or rental agreement of the duty to perform any 
obligation under that lease or rental agreement. 
 
7060.2 
   
If a public entity, by valid exercise of its police power, has in effect any control or system 
of control on the price at which accommodations may be offered for rent or lease, that 
entity may, notwithstanding any provision of this chapter, provide by statute or 
ordinance, or by regulation as specified in Section 7060.5, that any accommodations 
which have been offered for rent or lease and which were subject to that control or 
system of control at the time the accommodations were withdrawn from rent or lease, 
shall be subject to the following: 
 

(a)  (1) For all tenancies commenced during the time periods described in 
paragraph (2), the accommodations shall be offered and rented or leased at the lawful 
rent in effect at the time any notice of intent to withdraw the accommodations is filed 
with the public entity, plus annual adjustments available under the system of control. 

(2) The provisions of paragraph (1) shall apply to all tenancies 
commenced during either of the following time periods: 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 9 of 14 
 

(A) The five-year period after any notice of intent to withdraw 
the accommodations is filed with the public entity, whether or not 
the notice of intent is rescinded or the withdrawal of the 
accommodations is completed pursuant to the notice of intent. 

(B) The five-year period after the accommodations are 
withdrawn. 

(3) This subdivision shall prevail over any conflicting provision of law 
authorizing the landlord to establish the rental rate upon the initial hiring of the 
accommodations. 

 
(b) If the accommodations are offered again for rent or lease for residential 

purposes within two years of the date the accommodations were withdrawn from rent or 
lease, the following provisions shall govern: 

(1) The owner of the accommodations shall be liable to any tenant or 
lessee who was displaced from the property by that action for actual and 
exemplary damages. Any action by a tenant or lessee pursuant to this paragraph 
shall be brought within three years of the withdrawal of the accommodations from 
rent or lease. However, nothing in this paragraph precludes a tenant from 
pursuing any alternative remedy available under the law. 

(2) A public entity which has acted pursuant to this section may institute a 
civil proceeding against any owner who has again offered accommodations for 
rent or lease subject to this subdivision, for exemplary damages for displacement 
of tenants or lessees. Any action by a public entity pursuant to this paragraph 
shall be brought within three years of the withdrawal of the accommodations from 
rent or lease. 

(3) Any owner who offers accommodations again for rent or lease shall 
first offer the unit for rent or lease to the tenant or lessee displaced from that unit 
by the withdrawal pursuant to this chapter, if the tenant has advised the owner in 
writing within 30 days of the displacement of the tenant’s desire to consider an 
offer to renew the tenancy and has furnished the owner with an address to which 
that offer is to be directed. That tenant, lessee, or former tenant or lessee may 
advise the owner at any time during the eligibility of a change of address to which 
an offer is to be directed. 

 
If the owner again offers the accommodations for rent or lease pursuant to this 
subdivision, and the tenant or lessee has advised the owner pursuant to this subdivision 
of a desire to consider an offer to renew the tenancy, then the owner shall offer to 
reinstitute a rental agreement or lease on terms permitted by law to that displaced 
tenant or lessee. 
 
This offer shall be deposited in the United States mail, by registered or certified mail 
with postage prepaid, addressed to the displaced tenant or lessee at the address 
furnished to the owner as provided in this subdivision, and shall describe the terms of 
the offer. The displaced tenant or lessee shall have 30 days from the deposit of the offer 
in the mail to accept the offer by personal delivery of that acceptance or by deposit of 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 10 of 14 
 

the acceptance in the United States mail by registered or certified mail with postage 
prepaid. 
 

(c) A public entity which has acted pursuant to this section, may require by 
statute or ordinance, or by regulation as specified in Section 7060.5, that an owner who 
offers accommodations again for rent or lease within a period not exceeding 10 years 
from the date on which they are withdrawn, and which are subject to this subdivision, 
shall first offer the unit to the tenant or lessee displaced from that unit by the withdrawal, 
if that tenant or lessee requests the offer in writing within 30 days after the owner has 
notified the public entity of an intention to offer the accommodations again for residential 
rent or lease pursuant to a requirement adopted by the public entity under subdivision 
(c) of Section 7060.4. The owner of the accommodations shall be liable to any tenant or 
lessee who was displaced by that action for failure to comply with this paragraph, for 
punitive damages in an amount which does not exceed the contract rent for six months, 
and the payment of which shall not be construed to extinguish the owner’s obligation to 
comply with this subdivision. 
 

(d) If the accommodations are demolished, and new accommodations are 
constructed on the same property, and offered for rent or lease within five years of the 
date the accommodations were withdrawn from rent or lease, the newly constructed 
accommodations shall be subject to any system of controls on the price at which they 
would be offered on the basis of a fair and reasonable return on the newly constructed 
accommodations, notwithstanding any exemption from the system of controls for newly 
constructed accommodations. 
 

(e) The amendments to this section enacted by the act adding this subdivision 
shall apply to all new tenancies created after December 31, 2002. If a new tenancy was 
lawfully created prior to January 1, 2003, after a lawful withdrawal of the unit under this 
chapter, the amendments to this section enacted by the act adding this subdivision may 
not apply to new tenancies created after that date. 
 
7060.3 
   
If a public entity determines to apply constraints pursuant to Section 7060.2 to a 
successor in interest of an owner who has withdrawn accommodations from rent or 
lease, the public entity shall record a notice with the county recorder which shall 
specifically describe the real property where the accommodations are located, the dates 
applicable to the constraints and the name of the owner of record of the real property. 
The notice shall be indexed in the grantor-grantee index. 
 
A person who acquires title to the real property subsequent to the date upon which the 
accommodations thereon have been withdrawn from rent or lease, as a bona fide 
purchaser for value, shall not be a successor in interest for the purposes of this chapter 
if the notice prescribed by this section has not been recorded with the county recorder 
at least one day before the transfer of title. 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 11 of 14 
 

 
7060.4 
   

(a) Any public entity which, by a valid exercise of its police power, has in effect 
any control or system of control on the price at which accommodations are offered for 
rent or lease, may require by statute or ordinance, or by regulation as specified in 
Section 7060.5, that the owner notify the entity of an intention to withdraw those 
accommodations from rent or lease and may require that the notice contain statements, 
under penalty of perjury, providing information on the number of accommodations, the 
address or location of those accommodations, the name or names of the tenants or 
lessees of the accommodations, and the rent applicable to each residential rental unit. 
Information respecting the name or names of the tenants, the rent applicable to any 
residential rental unit, or the total number of accommodations, is confidential information 
and for purposes of this chapter shall be treated as confidential information by any 
public entity for purposes of the Information Practices Act of 1977 (Chapter 1 
(commencing with Section 1798) of Title 1.8 of Part 4 of Division 3 of the Civil Code). A 
public entity shall, to the extent required by the preceding sentence, be considered an 
“agency,” as defined by subdivision (d) of Section 1798.3 of the Civil Code. 
 

(b) The statute, ordinance, or regulation of the public entity may require that the 
owner record with the county recorder a memorandum summarizing the provisions, 
other than the confidential provisions, of the notice in a form which shall be prescribed 
by the statute, ordinance, or regulation, and require a certification with that notice that 
actions have been initiated as required by law to terminate any existing tenancies. In 
that situation, the date on which the accommodations are withdrawn from rent or lease 
for purposes of this chapter is 120 days from the delivery in person or by first-class mail 
of that notice to the public entity. However, if the tenant or lessee is at least 62 years of 
age or disabled, and has lived in their accommodations or unit within the 
accommodations for at least one year prior to the date of delivery to the public entity of 
the notice of intent to withdraw pursuant to subdivision (a), then the date of withdrawal 
of the accommodations of that tenant or lessee shall be extended to one year after the 
date of delivery of that notice to the public entity, provided that the tenant or lessee 
gives written notice of their entitlement to an extension to the owner within 60 days of 
the date of delivery to the public entity of the notice of intent to withdraw. In that 
situation, the following provisions shall apply: 

(1) The tenancy shall be continued on the same terms and conditions as 
existed on the date of delivery to the public entity of the notice of intent to 
withdraw, subject to any adjustments otherwise available under the system of 
control. 

(2) No party shall be relieved of the duty to perform any obligation under 
the lease or rental agreement. 

(3) The owner may elect to extend the tenancy on any other unit within the 
accommodations up to one year after date of delivery to the public entity of the 
notice of intent to withdraw, subject to paragraphs (1) and (2). 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 12 of 14 
 

(4) Within 30 days of the notification by the tenant or lessee to the owner 
of their entitlement to an extension, the owner shall give written notice to the 
public entity of the claim that the tenant or lessee is entitled to stay in their 
accommodations or unit within the accommodations for one year after date of 
delivery to the public entity of the notice of intent to withdraw. 

(5) Within 90 days of date of delivery to the public entity of the notice of 
intent to withdraw, the owner shall give written notice of the owner’s election to 
extend a tenancy under paragraph (3) and the revised date of withdrawal to the 
public entity and any tenant or lessee whose tenancy is extended. 

(6) The date of withdrawal for the accommodations as a whole, for 
purposes of calculating the time periods described in Section 7060.2, shall be the 
latest termination date among all tenants within the accommodations, as stated 
in the notices required by paragraphs (4) and (5). An owner’s further voluntary 
extension of a tenancy beyond the date stated in the notices required by 
paragraphs (4) and (5) shall not extend the date of withdrawal. 
 
(c) The statute, ordinance, or regulation of the public entity adopted pursuant to 

subdivision (a) may also require the owner to notify any tenant or lessee displaced 
pursuant to this chapter of the following: 

(1) That the public entity has been notified pursuant to subdivision (a). 
(2) That the notice to the public entity specified the name and the amount 

of rent paid by the tenant or lessee as an occupant of the accommodations. 
(3) The amount of rent the owner specified in the notice to the public 

entity. 
(4) Notice to the tenant or lessee of their rights under paragraph (3) of 

subdivision (b) of Section 7060.2. 
(5) Notice to the tenant or lessee of the following: 

(A) If the tenant or lessee is at least 62 years of age or disabled, 
and has lived in their accommodations for at least one year prior to the 
date of delivery to the public entity of the notice of intent to withdraw, then 
tenancy shall be extended to one year after date of delivery to the public 
entity of the notice of intent to withdraw, provided that the tenant or lessee 
gives written notice of their entitlement to the owner within 60 days of date 
of delivery to the public entity of the notice of intent to withdraw. 

(B) The extended tenancy shall be continued on the same terms 
and conditions as existed on date of delivery to the public entity of the 
notice of intent to withdraw, subject to any adjustments otherwise 
available under the system of control. 

(C) No party shall be relieved of the duty to perform any obligation 
under the lease or rental agreement during the extended tenancy. 

 
(d) The statute, ordinance, or regulation of the public entity adopted pursuant to 

subdivision (a) may also require the owner to notify the public entity in writing of an 
intention to again offer the accommodations for rent or lease. 
 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 13 of 14 
 

7060.5 
   
The actions authorized by Sections 7060.2 and 7060.4 may be taken by regulation 
adopted after public notice and hearing by a public body of a public entity, if the 
members of the body have been elected by the voters of the public entity. The 
regulation shall be subject to referendum in the manner prescribed by law for the 
ordinances of the legislative body of the public entity except that: 

(a) The decision to repeal the regulation or to submit it to the voters shall be 
made by the public body which adopted the regulation. 
 

(b) The regulation shall become effective upon adoption by the public body of the 
public entity and shall remain in effect until a majority of the voters voting on the issue 
vote against the regulation, notwithstanding Section 9235, 9237, or 9241 of the 
Elections Code or any other law. 
 
7060.6 
   
If an owner seeks to displace a tenant or lessee from accommodations withdrawn from 
rent or lease pursuant to this chapter by an unlawful detainer proceeding, the tenant or 
lessee may appear and answer or demur pursuant to Section 1170 of the Code of Civil 
Procedure and may assert by way of defense that the owner has not complied with the 
applicable provisions of this chapter, or statutes, ordinances, or regulations of public 
entities adopted to implement this chapter, as authorized by this chapter. 
 
7060.7 
   
It is the intent of the Legislature in enacting this chapter to supersede any holding or 
portion of any holding in Nash v. City of Santa Monica, 37 Cal.3d 97 to the extent that 
the holding, or portion of the holding, conflicts with this chapter, so as to permit 
landlords to go out of business. However, this act is not otherwise intended to do any of 
the following: 

 
(a) Interfere with local governmental authority over land use, including regulation 

of the conversion of existing housing to condominiums or other subdivided interests or 
to other nonresidential use following its withdrawal from rent or lease under this chapter. 
 

(b) Preempt local or municipal environmental or land use regulations, 
procedures, or controls that govern the demolition and redevelopment of residential 
property. 
 

(c) Override procedural protections designed to prevent abuse of the right to evict 
tenants. 
 

(d) Permit an owner to do any of the following: 



   

Demolition Ordinance Update   

Attachment 4 – State Law Excerpts   

 

Page 14 of 14 
 

(1) Withdraw from rent or lease less than all of the accommodations, as 
defined by paragraph (1) or (2) of subdivision (b) of Section 7060. 

(2) Decline to make a written rerental offer to any tenant or lessee who 
occupied a unit at the time when the owner gave the public entity notice of its 
intent to withdraw the accommodations, in the manner and within the timeframe 
specified in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), or in subdivision (c), of Section 
7060.2. But the requirements of this paragraph shall not apply to: 

(A) A unit that was the principal place of residence of any owner or 
owner’s family member at the time of withdrawal, provided that it 
continues to be that person’s or those persons’ principal place of 
residence when accommodations are returned to the rental market as 
provided in this section. 

(B) A unit that is the principal place of residence of an owner when 
the accommodations are returned to the rental market, if it is the owners’ 
principal place of residence, at the time of return to the rental market, as 
provided in this section. If the owner vacates the unit within 10 years from 
the date of withdrawal, the owner shall, within 30 days, offer to rerent if 
required under this paragraph. 

 
(e) Grant to any public entity any power which it does not possess independent 

of this chapter to control or establish a system of control on the price at which 
accommodations may be offered for rent or lease, or to diminish any such power which 
that public entity may possess, except as specifically provided in this chapter. 
 

(f) Alter in any way either Section 65863.7 relating to the withdrawal of 
accommodations which comprise a mobilehome park from rent or lease or subdivision 
(f) of Section 798.56 of the Civil Code relating to a change of use of a mobilehome park. 
 


	5.
	6.
	8.



